FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the year ended December 31, 2011

HIGHLIGHTS
Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010

($000’s except per share amounts)
Financial
Natural gas sales
(1)
Funds from (used in) operations
Per share – basic
Per share – diluted
Net loss
Per share – basic
Per share – diluted
(1)
Working capital (deficiency)
Operations
Average production:
Natural gas (Mcf/d)
Natural gas liquids (bbl/d)
Total (Mcfe/d)
Average sales price:
Natural gas ($/Mcf)
Natural gas liquids ($/bbl)
Total ($/Mcfe)
(1)(2)
Operating netback
($/Mcfe)

(1)
(2)

316
(812)
(0.01)
(0.01)
(2,124)
(0.04)
(0.04)
(1,383)

209
(2,195)
(0.04)
(0.04)
(2,041)
(0.04)
(0.04)
5,331

855
(3,428)
(0.06)
(0.06)
(7,104)
(0.13)
(0.13)
(1,383)

11,387
2,206
0.04
0.04
(27,634)
(0.50)
(0.50)
5,331

602
14
688

433
9
488

416
10
474

6,822
18
6,991

3.62
87.74
4.99
0.97

3.77
69.06
4.68
(2.85)

3.70
83.29
4.94
1.64

4.37
61.63
4.46
3.63

Non-IFRS term. See discussion in the following MD&A.
Operating netback includes realized gains (losses) on commodities contracts.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ADVISORIES
The following Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is dated April 20, 2012 and should be read
in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of Fortress Energy Inc. (“Fortress” or
the “Company”), as at and for the year ended December 31, 2011.
Fortress is required to apply International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) for financial periods
beginning on January 1, 2011 including comparative amounts for respective periods in 2010 and an
opening balance sheet as at January 1, 2010. As a result, this MD&A references financial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRS including comparative prior period amounts. Readers are encouraged
to refer to note 20 of the consolidated financial statements as at for the year ended December 31, 2011
for more information.
All tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. Additional information
is available on the Company’s web site at www.fortressenergy.ca or under the Company’s profile at
www.sedar.com.
Forward-Looking Information
Certain statements in this MD&A may contain forward-looking information including expectations of
future production, components of cash flow and earnings, expected future events and/or financial results
that are forward-looking in nature and subject to substantial risks and uncertainties. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, the Company has made materially forward-looking statements:
(i)

Under "Description of Business", "Corporate Highlights" and "Subsequent Events" regarding the
pending acquisition of the private Brazilian oil and gas company, the shift of the Company's focus to
the Brazilian assets and the potential financing of the acquisition;

(ii)

Under “Liquidity and Capital Resources” regarding the ability to continue as a going concern, its
ability to complete the acquisition of the private Brazilian oil and gas company including the related
financing;

(iii) Under “Income Tax Refund” regarding a potential refund; and
(iv) Under "Subsequent Events" on the expected additional closings of a convertible debenture
financing.
The reader is cautioned that assumptions used in the preparation of such information may prove to be
incorrect. The Company cautions the reader that actual performance will be affected by a number of
factors, including changes in economic and political circumstances throughout the world. Events or
circumstances may cause actual results to differ materially from those predicted, a result of numerous
known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors, many of which are beyond the control of the
Company.
Statements throughout this MD&A that are not historical facts may be considered “forward-looking
statements.” These forward-looking statements sometimes include words to the effect that management
believes or expects a stated condition or result. All estimates and statements that describe the
Company’s objectives, goals or plans are forward-looking statements. Since forward-looking statements
address future events and conditions, by their very nature they involve inherent risks and uncertainties.
Actual results could differ materially from those currently anticipated due to any number of risks
including, but not limited to:
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(i)

Uncertainty that the Company will be able to successfully complete the acquisition or that the
required financing will be available;

(ii)

Uncertainty of the ability of the Company to complete additional closings of the convertible
debenture financing;

(iii) Uncertainty that in the event the Company completes the acquisition that the Company will be able
to successfully explore, develop or exploit its oil and gas properties;
(iv) Liquidity risk and working capital requirements (refer to “Liquidity and Capital Resources”);
(v)

Uncertainty of estimates and projections of production, costs and expenses;

(vi) Risks associated with the oil and natural gas industry and regulatory bodies (e.g. operational risks in
exploration, development and production, or changes in royalty rates);
(vii) Delays or changes in plans with respect to exploration or development projects or capital
expenditures;
(viii) Risks associated with the uncertainty of reserve estimates;
(ix) Uncertainty of estimates and projections relating to recoverable reserves, costs and expenses;
(x)

Health, safety and environmental risks; and

(xi) Commodity price and exchange rate fluctuations.
These external factors beyond the Company’s control may affect the marketability of oil and natural gas
produced, industry conditions including changes in laws and regulations, changes in income tax
regulations, increased competition, fluctuations in commodity prices, interest rates, and variations in the
Canadian/United States dollar exchange rate.
Forward-looking statements contained herein are made as of the date hereof and subject to the
requirements of applicable securities legislation and except as otherwise required by law, the Company
assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events and results, or otherwise. There can be no assurance that forward-looking statements will
prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in
such statements. Accordingly, the reader is cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking
statements.
Non-IFRS Measures
Funds from Operations
One of the performance indicators that the Company uses to evaluate its performance is funds from
operations. Funds from operations is a measure not defined in IFRS that is commonly used in the oil and
gas industry. The Company considers it a very important measure as it demonstrates the ability of the
Company’s continuing operations to generate cash flow necessary to fund future growth. Funds from
operations should not be considered as an alternative to or more meaningful than cash provided by
operating activities as determined in accordance with IFRS as an indicator of the Company’s performance.
The Company’s determination of funds from operations may not be comparable to that reported by other
companies.
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The Company calculates funds from operations by taking cash flow from operating activities as
determined under IFRS before changes in non-cash operating working capital and abandonment
expenditures. The consolidated statements of cash flows included in the consolidated financial
statements present the reconciliation between net loss and funds from (used in) operations. A summary
of this reconciliation is as follows:
Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010
34
(3,672)
(846)
1,477
(812)
(2,195)

($000’s)
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Change in non-cash operating working capital
Funds from (used in) operations

Year ended
December 31,
2011
2010
(2,883)
1,556
(545)
650
(3,428)
2,206

Operating Netback
Another performance indicator that is used by the Company and in the oil and gas industry to analyze
financial and operating performance is operating netback. This benchmark does not have any
standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore may not be comparable with other companies.
Management considers operating netback to be an important measure to evaluate its operational
performance as it demonstrates its field level profitability relative to current commodity prices.
Operating netback is calculated on a per Mcfe basis taking the sale price and deducting royalties,
operating and transportation expenses, as follows:

Natural gas sales
Royalties
Realized gain on commodity
contracts
Operating expenses
Transportation expenses
Operating netback

Three month ended December 31,
2011
2010
($000’s)
($/Mcfe)
($000’s)
($/Mcfe)
316
4.99
210
4.68
(35)
(0.55)
(209)
(4.66)
(142)
(78)
61

(2.24)
(1.23)
0.97

(78)
(51)
(128)

(1.73)
(1.14)
(2.85)

Year ended December 31,
2011
2010
($000’s)
($/Mcfe)
($000’s)
($/Mcfe)
855
4.94
11,387
4.46
(82)
(0.48)
(473)
(0.19)
(289)
(199)
285

(1.67)
(1.15)
1.64

5,268
(5,924)
(987)
9,271

2.07
(2.32)
(0.39)
3.63

Working Capital
The Company monitors working capital as part of its capital structure. Working capital does not have a
standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore may not be comparable with calculations of
similar measures for other entities.
Working capital is calculated as follows:

2011
2,499
(3,882)
(1,383)

Total current assets
Total current liabilities
Working capital (deficiency)
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Year ended
December 31,
2010
9,065
(3,734)
5,331

Natural Gas, Crude Oil and Natural Gas Liquids (“NGL”) Conversions
Certain crude oil and NGL volumes have been converted to cubic feet equivalent (“cfe”) on the basis of
one barrel (“bbl”) to six thousand cubic feet (“Mcf”). Cfe may be misleading, particularly if used in
isolation. A conversion ratio of one bbl to six Mcf is based on an energy equivalency conversion method
primarily applicable at the burner tip and does not represent value equivalency at the well head.
Description of the Business
Fortress Energy Inc. was incorporated on January 15, 2007 under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta).
Fortress is a Calgary-based junior oil and natural gas exploration and development company. All activity is
conducted in Western Canada and comprises a single operating segment.
With the pending acquisition of a private Brazilian oil and gas company, the Company’s focus will shift to
developing these oil and gas assets.
CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS
The following are the highlights for 2011:
•

The Company was successful in a dispute that resulted from a reassessment of prior tax years by the
Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”) in the amount of $18,000,000. On October 26, 2011, the Company
received revised notices of reassessment from the CRA indicating that CRA was vacating its claim,
reversing the previous assessments resulting in no federal income taxes or penalties payable. As a
result, Fortress no longer required the protection of the Order under the CCAA and on October 28,
2011, the Company applied to the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta to discharge the Company
from the CCAA proceedings.

•

On December 7, 2011, the Company announced that it had entered into a letter of intent to acquire
a Brazilian private oil and gas company.

•

On March 5, 2012 the Company announce it has signed a formal purchase and sale agreement to
acquire 100 percent of the shares of the Brazilian private oil and gas company for an acquisition
price of up to US$37,000,000. The oil and gas interests to be acquired include a 100 percent
working interest in 7 exploration blocks located in the Reconcavo Basin, covering an area of
approximately 200 sq km and a 100 percent working interest in three onshore producing oil fields:
Bom Lugar, located in the Reconcavo Basin, Jiribatuba, located in the Camamu Basin and Aracaju,
located in the Sergipe Basin. These assets have current production of approximately 50 bbls/d of
light oil. The closing of the acquisition is subject to receipt of all necessary regulatory approvals and
other conditions set out in the purchase and sale agreement.

•

Mr. Avik Dey joined the Company’s Board of Directors effective February 24, 2012. Mr. Dey is
President and CEO of Remvest Energy Partners LLC, a private investment company he founded in
2011. Remvest is currently focused on energy investments in Latin America. Mr. Dey has been active
in the global energy sector since 1999 with experience across three distinct industries (exploration &
production, investment banking and private equity).

•

Mr. Mark Woods, P.Eng., joined the Company as VP Operations and Chief Operating Officer effective
February 24, 2012. Mr. Woods was the President and Chief Operating Officer of Gallic Energy Ltd.,
where he developed exploration permits in the Aquitaine Basin of France and the Canning Basin of
Western Australia.
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•

Mr. Gerry O’Reilly, P.Geol., joined the Company as VP Exploration effective April 20, 2012. Mr.
O’Reilly has over 26 years experience developing oil and gas prospects, land sales and property
acquisitions in Western Canada including the discovery of a number of oil and gas pools.

2011 FINANCIAL RESULTS
Production
Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010
602
433
14
9
688
488

Natural gas (Mcf/d)
Natural gas liquids (bbl/d)
Total (Mcfe/d)

Year ended
December 31,
2011
2010
416
6,822
10
18
474
6,991

Production for the three months ended December 31, 2011 was 688 Mcfe/d compared to 488 Mcfe/d for
the three months ended December 31, 2010. The increase in production is attributed to workovers
completed on two of the Company’s wells at Buick Creek in the second quarter of 2011. The Company
also reactivated a well at Buick Creek in the third quarter of 2011 that had been shut-in since 2008.
Production for 2011 was 474 Mcfe/d compared to 6,991 Mcfe/d for 2010. This decrease is a result of the
sale of oil and natural gas properties on August 31, 2010. The Company sold substantially all of its oil and
gas properties, tangible equipment and undeveloped land, other than its interests at Buick Creek and Pine
Creek. The average production from these sold properties for 2010 was 6,841 Mcfe/d.
Revenue
Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010
316
210

Natural gas sales ($000’s)
Average realized prices:
Natural gas ($/Mcf)
Natural gas liquids ($/bbl)
Total ($/Mcfe)
Benchmark prices:
AECO average natural gas price ($/Mcf)
Edmonton Par crude oil ($/bbl)

Year ended
December 31,
2011
2010
855
11,387

3.62
87.74
4.99

3.77
69.06
4.68

3.70
83.29
4.94

4.37
61.63
4.46

3.20
98.02

3.61
80.91

3.63
95.73

3.99
78.16

For the three months ended December 31, 2011, the Company’s natural gas sales were $316,000
compared to $210,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2010. This increase is due to workovers
completed on two wells at Buick Creek in the second quarter of 2011 restoring lost production and the
reactivation of a Buick Creek well in third quarter of 2011 that had been shut-in since 2008. Natural gas
liquids prices realized by Fortress in the three months ended December 31, 2011 increased approximately
27% from the three months ended December 31, 2010.
The average realized natural gas price for the three months ended December 31, 2011 was $3.62/Mcf
compared to the average AECO natural gas price of $3.20/Mcf. The average realized natural gas price for
the three months ended December 31, 2010 was $3.77/Mcf compared to average AECO natural gas price
of $3.61/Mcf. The Company receives a premium to the AECO natural gas price of approximately 5 percent
due to the higher heating value of its natural gas.
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For 2011, natural gas sales were $855,000 compared to $11,387,000 for 2010. This decrease is attributed
to the Company’s sale of oil and gas properties on August 31, 2010.
The average realized natural gas price for 2011 was $3.70/Mcf compared to the average AECO natural gas
price of $3.63/Mcf. The average realized natural gas price for 2010 was $4.37/Mcf compared to average
AECO natural gas price of $3.99/Mcf.
Royalties
Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010
35
209
0.55
4.66
11.1%
99.5%

Royalties ($000’s)
$/Mcfe
Percentage of natural gas sales

2011
82
0.48
9.6%

Year ended
December 31,
2010
473
0.19
4.2%

For the three months ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded royalties of $35,000 compared
to $209,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2010. Royalties for the three months ended
December 31, 2010 included adjustments related to prior production periods of approximately $197,000,
which included Alberta Royalty Tax Credits (“ARTC”) of $99,000 that became repayable as the result of
audits of the 2004 and 2005 ARTC claims of a predecessor company.
Royalties for 2011 were $82,000 compared to $473,000 for 2010. This decrease is attributed to the sale
of oil and gas assets on August 31, 2010 and royalty adjustments, as previously noted.
Commodity Contracts
The Company liquidated its commodity contract position effective August 31, 2010 and has not entered
into any contracts since that time. In 2010, the Company realized a gain on commodity contracts of
$5,268,000. The Company also recorded an unrealized loss on commodity contracts of $1,321,000.
Operating Expenses
Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010
142
78
2.24
1.73

Operating expenses ($000’s)
$/Mcfe

Year ended
December 31,
2011
2010
289
5,924
1.67
2.32

For the three months ended December 31, 2011, operating expenses were $142,000 compared to
$78,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2010. This increase is due to higher production levels
and an adjustment made by the Company to the BC carbon tax accrual of $35,000 in the three months
ended December 31, 2011. The effect of the adjustment for carbon tax increased operating expenses by
$0.55/Mcfe.
For 2011, operating expenses were $289,000 compared to $5,924,000 for 2010. On a per Mcfe basis,
operating expenses decreased in 2011 to $1.67/Mcfe compared to $2.32/Mcfe in 2010. This decrease is
due to the sale of oil and gas properties on August 31, 2010. The Company’s Buick Creek property has a
relatively low operating cost when compared to the sold properties the majority of which were only
accessible during winter months.
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Transportation Expenses
Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010
78
51
1.23
1.14

Transportation expenses ($000’s)
$/Mcfe

Year ended
December 31,
2011
2010
199
987
1.15
0.39

Transportation expenses include transportation and fuel costs associated with the usage of natural gas
pipelines. For the three months ended December 31, 2011, transportation expenses were $78,000
compared to $51,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2010. This increase is mainly due to
higher production levels in the three months ended December 31, 2011. Also, there was an increase in
the costs passed on to the Company by the pipeline operator.
For 2011, transportation expenses were $199,000 compared to $987,000 for 2010. This decrease is due
to the sale of oil and gas properties on August 31, 2010 and lower production levels. Transportation
expenses increased to $1.15/Mcfe for 2011 from $0.39/Mcfe for 2010. The Buick Creek property, the
Company’s only remaining producing property, produces into a sour gas pipeline and gathering system
which has significantly higher charges associated with it.
Impairment of Exploration and Evaluation Assets
Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
($000’s)
$/Mcfe

64
1.01

-

Year ended
December 31,
2011
2010
74
0.43

2,404
0.94

The Company recorded impairment losses on exploration and evaluation assets of $64,000 in the three
months ended December 31, 2011 due to declining natural gas prices.
In 2011, impairment losses on exploration and evaluation assets amounted to $74,000 compared to
$2,404,000 in 2010. In 2010, the Company recorded an impairment loss on exploration and evaluation
assets due to declining natural gas prices.
Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization Expense

($000’s except per Mcfe)
Depletion, depreciation and amortization expense
Impairment losses
Total
Depletion, depreciation and amortization
expense ($/Mcfe)
Impairment losses ($/Mcfe)
Total ($/Mcfe)

Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010
122
74
518
640
74
1.93
8.17
10.10

1.64
1.64

Year ended
December 31,
2011
2010
320
4,309
518
21,814
838
26,123
1.85
2.99
4.84

1.69
8.55
10.24

Depletion, depreciation and amortization expense is calculated based on capital expenditures, production
rates, and proved plus probable reserves. Depletion, depreciation and amortization expense was
$640,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2011 compared to $74,000 for the three months
Fortress Energy Inc.
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ended December 31, 2010. This increase is mainly due to an impairment loss that was recorded in the
three months ended December 31, 2011 on the Company’s Buick Creek property due to declining gas
prices in the last quarter of 2011.
Depletion, depreciation and amortization expense was $838,000 for 2011 compared to $26,123,000 for
2010. This decrease is due to the sale of oil and gas properties on August 31, 2010, reducing the
Company’s depletion base. In 2010, the Company recorded an impairment loss of $21,814,000 on its
developed and producing oil and gas properties due to declining natural gas prices in 2010 and the
eventual sale of those assets which established their fair value.
General and Administrative Expenses
Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010

($000’s except per Mcfe)
General and administrative expenses, net of
recoveries
Share-based compensation expense
Total
$/Mcfe

577
577
9.11

441
441
9.83

Year ended
December 31,
2011
2010
2,513
2,513
14.53

4,328
522
4,850
1.90

For the three months ended December 31, 2011, general and administrative expenses net of recoveries
were $577,000 compared to $441,000 for three months ended December 31, 2010. This increase is due
to legal and tax advisory costs incurred in the three months ended December 31, 2011 related to the
Company’s dispute with CRA and the CCAA order that was eventually lifted in October 2011.
General and administrative expenses, net of recoveries, for 2011 were $2,513,000 compared to
$4,328,000 for 2010. General and administrative expenses decreased substantially in 2011 as a result of
the sale of oil and gas properties on August 31, 2010 and the reduction in staff levels and related
severance costs of $895,000. Included in general and administrative expenses for 2011 are legal, tax
advisory and consulting costs related to the dispute with CRA and the CCAA order of approximately
$725,000. The Company did not capitalize any general and administrative expenses in 2011 (2010 $292,000).
Share-based compensation expense for 2011 was $nil compared to $522,000 for 2010. As a result of the
sale of oil and gas assets on August 31, 2010, all outstanding stock options were immediately vested and
these vested options expired unexercised on November 29, 2010. Restricted stock units that were
outstanding at the time of the sale were vested and settled in cash in September 2010.
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Finance Expenses

($000’s except per Mcfe)
Unrealized loss on marketable securities
Realized loss on sale of marketable securities
Interest on bank loans
Interest on unspent flow-through obligations
Interest – other
Accretion of decommissioning liabilities
$/Mcfe

Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010
(1,139)
183
1,739
16
84
296
14
1
8
14
706
510
11.14
11.36

Year ended
December 31,
2011
2010
935
293
1,787
976
384
341
18
1
42
169
3,166
1,780
18.30
0.70

Finance expenses for the year ended December 31, 2011 were $3,166,000 compared to $1,780,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2010. This increase is due to the following:
•

Unrealized losses on marketable securities for 2011 of $935,000 compared to $293,000 for 2010,
pertaining to the shares of Terra Energy received on the sale of oil and gas assets on August 31,
2010. The quoted market price of the Terra Energy shares decreased from $1.32 per share on
August 31, 2010 to $0.54 per share on December 31, 2011.

•

Realized loss on sale of marketable securities of $1,787,000 in 2011. The Company sold 2,090,200
shares of Terra Energy to fund operations.

This increase was reduced by:
•

A reduction in interest expense in 2011. The Company repaid its bank loans on the closing of the
sale of oil and gas assets on August 31, 2010.

•

A reduction in accretion of decommissioning liabilities in 2011 due to the sale of oil and gas
properties on August 31, 2010 and the assumption by the purchaser of these liabilities.

Other Expenses

($000’s except per Mcfe)
Gain on sale of oil and gas properties
Refund of gas cost allowance and custom processing
Indemnity of flow-through share subscribers
Other expenses (income)
$/Mcfe

Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010
37
(159)
124
1,314
(35)
1,351
(0.55)
0.53

Year ended
December 31,
2011
2010
(530)
(325)
889
1,314
564
784
3.26
0.31

In the three months ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded other income of $35,000
compared to other expenses of $1,351,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2010. In the three
months ended December 31, 2011, the Company received a refund of $159,000 for royalties that it had
paid in prior periods related to oil and gas properties that it sold in August 2010. Specifically, this refund
related to adjustments to gas cost allowance and custom processing credits that are used in the
determination of Alberta crown royalties. In the three months ended December 31, 2010, the Company
recorded an expense for the indemnification of flow-through share subscribers that participated in the
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Company’s 2009 flow-through offering. As a result of the sale of oil and gas properties on August 31,
2010, the Company had sold substantially all of its flow-through eligible drilling prospects.
Other expenses were $564,000 for 2011 compared to $784,000 for 2010. In 2011, the Company recorded
an expense of $889,000 for the indemnity of flow-through share subscribers related to a 2004 flowthrough share offering of a predecessor company as a result of a CRA audit that concluded in 2011. Gas
cost allowance and custom processing charges refunded to the Company in 2011 totaled $325,000. The
Company recorded a gain on the sale of oil and gas properties in 2010 of $530,000.
Net Loss
Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010
(2,124)
(2,041)
(0.04)
(0.04)
(33.54)
(45.49)

Net loss ($000’s)
Net loss per share - basic and diluted ($)
Net loss ($/Mcfe)

Year ended
December 31,
2011
2010
(7,104)
(27,634)
(0.13)
(0.50)
(41.06)
(10.83)

The Company recorded a net loss of $2,124,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2011
compared to $2,041,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2010. This translates into a net loss
per basic and diluted share of $0.04. The net loss for the three months ended December 31, 2011 is
mainly due to losses on marketable securities and costs related to the CCAA order. The net loss for the
three months ended December 31, 2010 is mainly attributed to the indemnification of flow-through
shareholders and related interest expenses.
The net loss for 2011 was $7,104,000 compared to $27,634,000 for 2010. The net loss for 2011 is the
result of costs related to the CCAA order, losses on marketable securities, and impairment losses on oil
and gas properties. Contributing to the net loss for the year ended December 31, 2010 were impairment
losses on oil and gas properties of $24,218,000.
Funds from Operations

Funds from (used in) operations ($000’s)(1)
Funds from (used in) operations ($/Mcfe)
Funds from (used in) operations per share – basic
and diluted ($)
(1)

Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010
(812)
(2,195)
(12.82)
(48.90)
(0.01)

(0.04)

Year ended
December 31,
2011
2010
(3,428)
2,206
(19.81)
0.86
(0.06)

0.04

Non-IFRS term as defined on page 4.

Funds used in operations for the three months ended December 31, 2011 were $812,000 compared to
$2,195,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2010. This increase is due to costs recorded in the
three months ended December 31, 2010 related to flow-through indemnification and part XII.6 taxes
totaling $1,613,000.
Funds used in operations for 2011 were $3,428,000 compared to funds from operations of $2,206,000 for
2010. Funds from operations for 2010 included gains on commodity contracts of $5,268,000.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company fully repaid it bank indebtedness on the closing of the sale of oil and gas properties on
August 31, 2010. The facility was subsequently cancelled by the bank and the Company no longer has a
borrowing facility. The Company has a letter of guarantee of $107,000 outstanding as at December 31,
2011 (December 31, 2010 - $107,000) which is secured by a cash deposit.
As at December 31, 2011, the Company has cash on hand of $1,008,000 and 1,574,244 common shares of
Terra with a carrying value of $850,000. The Company sold 2,090,200 of Terra Energy in 2011 and sold
the remaining shares in 2012 to allow it to continue operations and to meet the deposit requirement
related to a pending acquisition of a Brazilian oil and gas company. The Company is currently in
discussions with several investment banks and private investors to raise approximately $75,000,000 to
fund the acquisition and the 2012/13 capital program. Refer to the “Subsequent Events” section of this
MD&A for further information regarding the acquisition and financing initiatives.
Cash provided by operating activities for the three months ended December 31, 2011 was $34,000
compared to cash used in operating activities of $3,672,000 for the three months ended December 31,
2010. In the three months ended December 31, 2010 the Company recorded expenses related to the
indemnification of flow-through shareholders and interest totaling $1,613,000. The Company also
recorded a change in non-cash working capital balances over these periods of $2,323,000. Cash used in
operating activities for 2011 was $2,883,000 compared to cash generated by operating activities of
$1,556,000 for 2010. This decrease is consistent with the three months ended December 31, 2011.
Cash provided by investing activities for the three months ended December 31, 2011 was $682,000
compared to $1,306,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2010. In the three months ended
December 31, 2011, the Company realized proceeds on the sale of marketable securities of $918,000.
Also, non-cash working capital balances for the period decreased by $1,486,000. Cash provided by
investing activities for 2011 was $569,000 compared to $22,543,000 for 2010. The net cash proceeds on
the sale of oil and gas assets in 2010 amounted to $25,146,000. Capital expenditures for 2011 were
$564,000 compared to $1,747,000 for 2010.
Cash provided by financing activities for the three months ended December 31, 2011 was $124,000
compared to $1,314,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2010. This change relates to the
indemnification of flow-through shareholders in the three months ended December 31, 2010. Cash
provided by financing activities for 2011 was $889,000 compared to cash used in financing activities of
$21,730,000 for 2010. Cash provided by financing activities for 2011 relates to the indemnification of
flow-through shareholders of a predecessor company. Cash used in financing activities for 2010 reflects
the repayment of the Company’s operating loan facility on September 1, 2010 and indemnification
expenses and part XII.6 taxes of the 2009 flow-through share offering.
Going concern uncertainty
The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which
assumes the realization of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business for the
foreseeable future. The Company has experienced consecutive losses and has accumulated losses of
$159,711,000 to December 31, 2011.
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As at December 31, 2011, the Company has cash on hand of $1,008,000 and 1,574,244 common shares of
a publicly listed entity with a carrying value of $850,000. The Company sold a portion of its shares in this
publicly listed entity in 2011 and subsequently sold the remaining shares to allow it to continue to operate
and to provide the initial US$1,000,000 deposit to secure the acquisition of a Brazilian oil and gas
company. The Company is currently negotiating an equity financing to fund the remainder of the
purchase price of this acquisition. The Company expects that the closing of this acquisition and financing
will allow the Company to continue to operate for the foreseeable future.
The Company requires additional working capital to fund operations until the acquisition is complete. The
Company has issued $245,000 of principal amount of convertible debentures in the first tranche of an
interim financing for the required capital and is anticipating raising a total of $1,500,000.
There is significant uncertainty regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, which is
dependent upon achieving on-going cash flow from operating activities and receiving additional support
from its creditors and investors.
The Company is experiencing negative cash flow from operating activities. There is no certainty as to
when the Company will have positive cash flow. The Company is solely dependent upon outside sources
and third party financings to obtain the necessary capital to fund operations until the acquisition closes as
well as to complete the acquisition and fund a proposed drilling program on the acquired oil and gas
assets and to explore and develop its properties and the Brazilian properties or acquire further properties
or pursue other business opportunities or restructure the Company and continue as a going concern. If
the Company is unable to secure sufficient financing, delays or postponement of future business
opportunities or development or production of the Company’s properties will result. There can be no
assurance that the additional capital required or other types of financing will be available if needed or
even if available, the terms of such financing will be acceptable to the Company. Therefore, failure to
obtain suitable financing would, in all likelihood, lead to the liquidation of the Company’s assets. There is
no assurance that even if the acquisition is completed the Company will be successful in developing the
acquired properties. In the event the Company cannot develop its properties at will, in all likelihood, this
will lead to a liquidation of the Company’s assets.
The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 do not contain any adjustments to the
amounts and classification of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable
to continue in business.
CCAA proceedings
On March 2, 2011, Fortress applied to the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta for an Order under the
Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada)(“CCAA”) staying all claims and actions against the
Company and its assets. Fortress had taken this action to enable it to challenge a reassessment issued by
the Canada Revenue Agency which reassessment was in the amount of $18,000,000. In addition, the
Company received provincial reassessments of approximately $6,200,000 as a result of the CRA
reassessments.
On October 26, 2011, the Company received revised notices of reassessment from the CRA indicating that
CRA was vacating its claim, reversing the previous assessments resulting in no federal income taxes or
penalties payable. The Company later received revised provincial reassessments indicating that its
previous reassessments were also being vacated. As a result, Fortress no longer requires the protection
of the Order under the CCAA and on October 28, 2011, the Company applied to the Court of Queen’s
Bench of Alberta to discharge the Company from the CCAA proceedings.
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Capital Expenditures
Three months ended
December 31,
2011
2010
7
(10)
66
11
27
47
84
64

($000’s)
Land and seismic
Drilling and completions
Equipment and facilities
Capitalized overhead costs
Other
Allocated as:
Exploration and evaluation assets
Property, plant and equipment

63
21
84

64
64

Year ended
December 31,
2011
2010
34
361
214
498
316
646
239
3
564
1,747
64
500
564

63
1,684
1,747

In 2011, the Company completed workovers on two wells at Buick Creek to restore lost production and a
turnaround on its Buick Creek compressor and processing facility. The Company also reactivated one of
its Buick Creek wells that had been shut-in since 2008.
In 2010, the Company completed several operations related to oil and gas properties that were sold on
August 31, 2010 including a fuel gas conversion at the Square Creek camp to reduce operating costs,
workover operations on two wells at Buick Creek, replacement of coil tubing for two wells at Velma, and
pipeline header repairs at Mearon North and Ladyfern North to restore lost production.
Commitments and Contingencies
a)

Income tax refund:
In September 2008, the Company re-filed its income tax returns for the 1997 to 1999 tax years to
claim additional scientific research and experimental development credits related to the biotechnology business of its predecessor company. These additional claims could result in a refund of
approximately $3,400,000 to the Company.
The Company has not been assessed by the CRA for these amended income tax returns as the CRA
maintains that these tax years have been statute barred. The Company does not believe this to be
the case and has taken the CRA to court to obtain an order requiring the CRA to reassess these tax
returns. The Company and its legal counsel are currently waiting for the court’s decision.

(b)

Letter of guarantee:
The Company has a letter of guarantee of $107,000 outstanding as at December 31, 2011 ($107,000
as at December 31, 2010) which is secured by a cash deposit.
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(c)

Office premises:
The Company is committed to minimum annual lease payments under an operating lease for office
premises to January 2013, as follows:
($000’s)
2012
2013

162
14
176

Subsequent Events
(a)

On March 1, 2012, Fortress signed a formal purchase and sale agreement to acquire 100 percent of
the shares of a Brazilian private oil and gas company for an acquisition price of up to US$37,000,000.
The oil and gas interests to be acquired include a 100 percent working interest in 7 exploration
blocks located in the Reconcavo Basin, covering an area of approximately 200 sq km and a 100
percent working interest in three onshore producing oil fields: Bom Lugar, located in the Reconcavo
Basin, Jiribatuba, located in the Camamu Basin and Aracaju, located in the Sergipe Basin. These
assets have current production of approximately 50 bbls/d of light oil.
Closing of the acquisition is subject to receipt of all necessary regulatory approvals including the
approval of ANP (Agência Nacional do Petróleo, Gás Natural e Biocombustíveis) in Brazil to permit
the Brazilian private company to complete a reorganization prior to the sale of the shares to
Fortress, to permit Fortress to purchase and own the shares and to otherwise consummate the
transaction. Closing is also subject to the satisfaction of the other conditions set out in the purchase
and sale agreement.
To finance the acquisition, the Company entered into a letter of intent with a private equity
syndicate to raise $55,000,000 to fund the acquisition price and a portion of the planned capital
program. The Company expects to close this financing in May 2012, the funds of which will be held
in trust pending the closing of the acquisition which is expected to close in June 2012. The Company
had also entered into discussions with various investment banks to raise an additional $20,000,000
that will be directed to the capital program.

(b)

On February 27, 2012, the Company granted stock options to officers, directors and consultants to
the Company to acquire 5,500,000 common shares of the Company at an exercise price of $0.25 per
share, expiring February 27, 2017. The options vest over a three year period on the anniversary
dates. Also on February 27, 2012, the Company granted performance warrants to officers, directors
and consultants to the Company to acquire 5,500,000 common shares at an exercise price of $0.25
per share, expiring February 27, 2017.

(c)

On April 9, 2012, the Company closed the first round of a convertible debenture financing for
$245,000. The Company expects to have additional closings in April and May to raise a total of
$1,500,000 to provide working capital to fund the Company’s operations until it can close the
acquisition of the Brazilian oil and gas company.
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Indemnification of Flow-Through Share Subscribers
(a)

The Canada Revenue Agency conducted an audit in March 2009 of the 2004 flow-through
expenditures of a business that was acquired by the Company in 2006. As a result of the audit, the
Company was reassessed by the CRA for interest and part XII.6 taxes of approximately $384,000 on
expenditures not qualifying for renunciation under the flow-through share program in the amount
of $1,916,000. The Company filed a Notice of Objection on July 31, 2009 after consultation with its
tax advisors and legal counsel to appeal this reassessment. The Company also indemnified the
subscribers from income taxes related to the offering. The amount of the indemnification is
approximately $889,000.
As a result of recent discussions with the CRA and additional arguments that the CRA has put
forward, the Company has determined that the continued appeal of this reassessment is unlikely to
be successful. Accordingly, the Company has recorded the estimated interest and indemnification
as liabilities at December 31, 2011.

(b)

On December 31, 2009 the Company closed a public offering of 6,594,000 flow-through common
shares. The expenditure commitment resulting from the issuance of flow-through common shares
was $3,000,270; however, the Company incurred expenditures of only $104,000 by the December
31, 2010 deadline. Accordingly, the Company recorded a liability of $1,314,000 at December 31,
2011 (December 31, 2010 - $1,314,000) which represents the anticipated payments to investors
required under indemnification agreements.

Financial Risk Management
(a)

Overview:
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks that arise as a result of its
exploration, development, production, and financing activities such as:
•

credit risk;

•

liquidity risk; and

•

market risk.

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the
Company’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s
management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these
consolidated financial statements.
The Board of Directors oversees managements’ establishment and execution of the Company’s risk
management framework. Management has implemented and monitors compliance with risk
management policies. The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and
analyze the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor
risks and adherence to market conditions and the Company’s activities.
(b)

Credit risk:
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s
receivables from joint venture partners and oil and natural gas marketers.
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All of the Company’s operations are conducted in Canada. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is
influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer.
Credit risk is primarily related to the Company’s receivables from joint venture partners and
petroleum and natural gas marketers and the risk of financial loss if a customer, partner or
counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. A substantial
portion of the Company’s accounts receivable is with partners in the energy industry and is subject
to normal industry credit risk. The Company generally grants unsecured credit but routinely
assesses the financial strength of its partners.
th

Receivables from petroleum and natural gas marketers are normally collected on the 25 day of
the month following production. The Company sells the majority of its production to a single
petroleum and natural gas marketer and, therefore, is subject to concentration risk which is
mitigated by management’s policies and practices related to credit risk, as discussed above. The
Company historically has not experienced any collection issues with its petroleum and natural gas
marketers. However, the receivables are from participants in the petroleum and natural gas sector,
and collection of the outstanding balances is dependent on industry factors such as commodity
price fluctuations, escalating costs, the risk of unsuccessful drilling and occasional disagreements
between parties. The Company attempts to mitigate the risk from joint venture receivables by
obtaining partner approval of significant capital expenditures prior to expenditure.
The Company does not typically obtain collateral from petroleum and natural gas marketers or
joint venture partners; however in certain circumstances, it may cash call a partner in advance of
the work. As well, the Company does have the ability, in most cases, to withhold production from
joint venture partners in the event of non-payment.
The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts as determined by management based
on their assessment of collection and, therefore the carrying amount of accounts receivable
generally represents the maximum credit exposure.
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables at December 31, 2011 and
2010 was $357,000 and $1,750,000, respectively.
At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company’s receivables consisted of:
($000’s)
Natural gas marketing companies
Joint venture partners
Other
Total trade and other receivables

2011
88
147
122
357

2010
59
1,511
180
1,750

As at December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company’s trade and other receivables are aged as follows:
($000’s)
Current (less than 90 days)
Past due (more than 90 days)

Fortress Energy Inc.
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2010
125
1,625
1,750

(c)

Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
fall due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.
The Company prepares annual capital expenditure budgets, which are regularly monitored and
updated as considered necessary. Further, the Company utilizes authorizations for expenditures on
both operated and non operated projects to further manage capital expenditure. The Company
also attempts to match its payment cycle with collection of oil and natural gas revenue on the 25th
of each month. To facilitate the capital expenditure program, the Company relies on working
capital and cash flows from operations.
The contractual maturities of the Company’s trade and other payables balance of $1,069,000 (2010
- $1,914,000) is less than 6 months.

(d)

Market risk:
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as commodity prices, foreign exchange
rates and interest rates will affect the Company’s income or the value of the financial instruments.
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.
Currency risk
Prices for oil are determined in global markets and generally denominated in United States dollars.
Natural gas prices obtained by the Company are influenced by both US and Canadian demand and
the corresponding North American supply, and recently, by imports of liquefied natural gas. The
exchange rate effect cannot be quantified but generally an increase in the value of the $CDN as
compared to the $US will reduce the prices received by the Company for its petroleum and natural
gas sales.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
interest rates. The Company has no outstanding loans or borrowings at December 31, 2011 and
2010 and, accordingly, is not subject to interest rate risk.
Commodity price risk
Commodity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of
changes in commodity prices. Commodity prices for oil and natural gas are impacted by not only
the relationship between the Canadian and United States dollar and also world economic events
that dictate the levels of supply and demand.
The Company does not enter into commodity contracts other than to meet the Company’s expected
sale requirements. There are no commodity contracts outstanding at December 31, 2011 (2010 –
nil).

Fortress Energy Inc.

19

For the year ended December 31, 2011

(e)

Capital management:
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying oil and natural gas assets. The
Company considers its capital structure to include shareholders’ equity and working capital. In
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may issue shares and adjust its
capital spending to manage current and projected debt levels.
The Company prepares annual capital expenditure budgets, which are updated as necessary
depending on varying factors including current and forecast prices, successful capital deployment
and general industry conditions. The annual and updated budgets are approved by the Board of
Directors.
To assess capital and operating efficiency and financial strength, the Company continually monitors
its working capital (deficiency) which is a non-IFRS measure and is calculated as follows:
($000’s)
Current assets
Current liabilities
Working capital (deficiency)

2011
2,499
(3,882)
(1,383)

2010
9,065
(3,734)
5,331

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Outstanding Securities
Outstanding securities
Common shares
Total outstanding securities at December 31, 2011
Options granted February 27, 2012
Performance warrants granted February 27, 2012
Total outstanding securities at April 20, 2012
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SELECTED QUARTERLY INFORMATION
2011
Q4
Production:
Natural gas (Mcf/d)
Natural gas liquids (bbl/d)
Total (Mcfe/d)
Average realized price:
Natural gas ($/Mcf)
Natural gas liquids ($/bbl)
Combined average ($/Mcfe)
Benchmark prices:
AECO average natural gas price
($/Mcf)
Edmonton Par crude oil price ($/bbl)
Financial ($000s unless otherwise
noted):
Natural gas sales
Net loss
Net loss per share – basic ($)
Net loss per share – diluted ($)
Funds from (used in) operations
Weighted average shares
outstanding – basic (000)
Weighted average shares
outstanding – diluted (000)

Q3

2010
Q2

Q1

Q4

Q3

Q2

Q1

602
14
688

553
11
619

365
9
420

137
5
162

433
9
488

7,084
17
7,185

9,903
20
10,022

10,212
27
10,374

3.62
87.74
4.99

3.52
74.33
4.47

4.05
87.02
5.41

3.90
78.08
5.32

3.77
69.06
4.68

8.12
54.12
8.19

5.28
62.09
5.36

6.49
63.54
6.58

3.20

3.66

3.88

3.77

3.61

3.53

3.89

4.94

98.02

92.43

103.72

88.68

80.91

74.88

75.53

80.92

316
(2,124)
(0.04)
(0.04)
(812)
55,295

254
(2,549)
(0.05)
(0.05)
(1,290)
55,295

207
(1,246)
(0.02)
(0.02)
(655)
55,295

78
(1,185)
(0.02)
(0.02)
(671)
55,295

210
(2,041)
(0.04)
(0.04)
(2,195)
55,295

2,566
(1,068)
(0.02)
(0.02)
2,199
55,295

3,625
(15,585)
(0.28)
(0.28)
997
55,295

4,986
(8,940)
(0.16)
(0.16)
1,205
55,295

55,295

55,295

55,295

55,295

55,295

55,295

55,295

55,295

Significant factors and trends that have affected the quarterly results include:
•

On August 31, 2010, the Company sold substantially all of its oil and gas properties and undeveloped
land, other than its interests in Buick Creek and Pine Creek, resulting in a decrease in production and
natural gas sales in the third quarter of 2010 and later quarters. The sold properties accounted for
production of 6,632 Mcfe/d in the third quarter of 2010 and 8,669 Mcfe/d for the nine months
ended September 30, 2010.

•

Production in the first and second quarters of 2011 was impacted by operational issues. The
Company completed workovers on two wells at Buick Creek in the second quarter to restore lost
production.

•

Production in the third quarter of 2011 was shut-in for approximately 20 days for a turnaround at
the Spectra operated McMahon gas processing facility in July.

•

Natural gas prices were negatively impacted by an increasing supply of natural gas from tight shale
reservoirs in North America.

•

The Company recorded substantial impairment losses in the second quarter of 2010 due to the sale
of oil and gas properties in the third quarter of 2010, the sales price establishing the fair value less
costs to sell of the properties.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect reported assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingencies and revenues and expenses.
Management is also required to adopt accounting policies that require the use of significant estimates.
Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. A comprehensive discussion of the significant
accounting policies adopted by Fortress can be found in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
Management believes the most critical accounting policies, including judgments in their application,
which may have an impact on the Company’s financial results, relate to the accounting for property, plant
and equipment, and decommissioning liabilities. The rate at which the Company’s assets are depreciated
or otherwise written off and the decommissioning liability provided for, with the associated accretion
expensed to the statement of loss, are subject to a number of judgments about future events, many of
which are beyond management’s control. In addition, recognition of reserves is central to much of the
accounting for an oil and natural gas company, as described below.
The following areas contain significant estimates made by management:
(a)

Oil and natural gas reserves - Estimating reserves is a subjective process. It requires significant
judgments using geological, engineering and economic data. The important assumptions made in
preparing an estimate of oil and gas reserves include expected reservoir performance, future rates
of production, oil and natural gas price forecasts, future operating and development costs, timing of
expenditures and future fiscal regimes. These estimates can change substantially as additional data
from ongoing development activities and production performance becomes available and as
economic conditions change. The Company’s oil and natural gas reserves are evaluated by Sproule
Associates Limited, an independent reserves evaluator. Reserves estimates can have a significant
impact on net earnings, as they are a key component in the calculation of depletion and impairment
testing as discussed below.

(b)

Depletion and depreciation expense – Fortress tracks all capital costs for development projects at
the area asset level (unit-of-account). The aggregate of the capitalized costs and future development
costs is amortized on the unit-of-production method based on estimated proved and probable
reserves. Changes in estimated proved and probable reserves or future development costs have a
direct impact on depletion and depreciation expense.
Certain costs related to exploration and evaluation assets (E&E) have been excluded from costs
subject to depletion. These costs will continue to be classified as E&E until proven reserves have
been established and management determines that the project is technically feasible and
commercially viable or that their value is impaired.

(c)

Impairment testing – Fortress is required to review the carrying value of all property, plant, and
equipment (PP&E) for potential impairment. Throughout the year, the Company analyzes the
carrying value of its PP&E at the cash generating unit level (“CGU”), and considers potential
indicators of impairment such as, among other things, current market conditions, current and
forecasted heavy oil prices and the profitability. The Company has only one CGU for developed and
producing oil and gas properties being Buick Creek. This CGU is tested for impairment, at a
minimum, on an annual basis. The impairment test is based on estimates of reserves prepared by
qualified independent evaluators, production rate, crude oil and natural gas prices, future costs and
other relevant assumptions. By their nature, reserve estimates are subject to measurement
uncertainty and the impact of impairment test calculations on the consolidated financial statements
of changes to reserve estimates could be material.
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At December 31, 2011, the carrying value of the Buick Creek property was compared to the net
present value of proved and probable reserves, before tax, discounted at a rate of 10%. At
December 31, 2011, the carrying amount of the Company’s Buick Creek property exceeded the net
present value of the underlying reserves and, accordingly, the Company recorded an impairment
loss of $518,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011.
(d)

Decommissioning liability – the decommissioning liability is estimated based on existing laws,
contracts or other policies. The fair value of the liability is based on estimated future costs for
abandonment and reclamation, discounted at a risk-free rate. The costs are included in property,
plant and equipment and amortized over their useful life. The liability is adjusted each reporting
period to reflect the passage of time, with the accretion charged to earnings and for revisions to the
estimated future cash flows. The estimates or assumptions required to calculate the
decommissioning liability includes, among other items, abandonment and reclamation amounts,
inflation rates, risk-free discount rates and timing of retirement of assets. These assumptions are
assessed annually, at a minimum, for reasonability and are revised when required to provide a more
accurate estimate of the liability. By their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement
uncertainty and the impact on the financial statements could be material.
The following significant assumptions were used for the purpose of estimating the decommissioning
liability:

Undiscounted abandonment costs ($000s)
Risk-free rate
Inflation rate
Average years to reclamation
(e)

2011
2,966
2.49%
2.0%
25

2010
2,966
4.1%
2.0%
25

Income taxes – the Company records deferred tax assets and liabilities based on temporary
differences between the carrying value and tax basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax provisions require estimating the timing of these temporary differences and estimating
whether tax assets will be realized before expiry.
The determination of the Company’s income and other tax liabilities requires interpretation of
complex laws and regulations often involving multiple jurisdictions. All tax filings are subject to audit
and potential reassessment after the lapse of considerable time. Accordingly, the actual income tax
liability may differ significantly from that estimated and recorded. In addition, the Company is
required to estimate whether it will be able to utilize all of its existing tax pools before their expiry.

(f)

Share-based compensation – The Company uses the fair value method to account for stock options.
The determination of the amounts for share-based compensation is based on estimates of stock
volatility, risk-free interest rates and the expected lives of the option. By their nature, these
estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty and a change in these estimates would impact
the valuation of the option and could result in a different amount for share-based compensation
expense.

(g)

Other estimates:
The Company is required to make certain estimates for revenues, royalties, operating and
transportation expenses and capital expenditures as at a specific reporting date if actual amounts
for these items have not been received.
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The decision to transfer exploration and evaluation assets to property, plant and equipment is based
on management’s determination of an area’s technical feasibility and commercial viability based
partially on proved and probable reserves.
The estimated fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities, are by their nature, subject
to measurement uncertainty.
New Accounting Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – in November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 to address classification and
measurement of financial assets. In October 2010, the IASB revised the standard to include financial
liabilities. The standard is required to be adopted for periods beginning January 1, 2015. Portions of the
standard remain in development and the full impact of the standard will not be known until the project is
complete.
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements – in May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10 which provides
additional guidance to determine whether an investee should be consolidated. The guidance applies to all
investees, including special purpose entities. The standard is required to be adopted for periods beginning
January 1, 2013.
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements – in May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 11 which presents a new model for
determining whether an entity should account for joint arrangements using proportionate consolidation
or the equity method. An entity will have to follow the substance rather than legal form of a joint
arrangement and will no longer have a choice of accounting method. The standard is required to be
adopted for periods beginning January 1, 2013.
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities – in May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 12 which aggregates
and amends disclosure requirements included within other standards. The standard requires a company
to provide disclosures about subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured
entities. The standard is required to be adopted for periods beginning January 1, 2013.
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement – in May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 13 to provide comprehensive
guidance for instances where IFRS requires fair value to be used. The standard provides guidance on
determining fair value and requires disclosures about those measurements. The standard is required to be
adopted for periods beginning January 1, 2013.
IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income – in June 2011, the IASB issued amendments
to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to split items of other comprehensive income (OCI) between
those that are reclassed to income and those that do not. The standard is required to be adopted for
periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012.
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements – the IASB issued amendments to IAS 27 to coincide with changes
made to IFRS 10, but retains the current guidance for separate financial statements.
IAS 28 Investment in Associations and Joint Ventures – the IASB issued amendments to IAS 28 to coincide
with changes made to IFRS 10 and IFRS 11, but retains the current guidance for separate financial
statements.
The Company is currently analyzing the impact, if any, that the adoption of these standards will have on
its consolidated financial statements.
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RISK FACTORS
Going Concern Issues
The Company is experiencing negative cash flow. There is no certainty as to when it will have operating
revenue or positive cash flow. As the Company has negative cash flow, it is solely dependent upon outside
sources and third party financings to obtain the necessary capital to continue operations until the
acquisition of the Brazilian oil and gas company is completed, to fund the acquisition and to explore and
develop its properties or acquire further properties or pursue other business opportunities or restructure
the Company and continue as a going concern. While the Company has repaid its outstanding bank debt,
it does not have access to short term bank financing. If the Company is unable to raise the required funds
then it will not be able to take any such steps including completing the acquisition or continuing
operations. Therefore, failure to obtain such financing would, in all likelihood, lead to the liquidation of
the Company’s assets.
The Company’s exploration and development activities will also require additional financing. If the
Company is unable to secure sufficient financing, delays or postponement of future business
opportunities or development or production of the Company’s properties may result. There can be no
assurance that the additional capital required or other types of financing will be available if needed or
even if available, the terms of such financing will be acceptable to the Company.
Delisting
As a result of the sale of substantially all its oil and gas properties in August, 2010, the Company was
delisted from the TSX on March 30, 2011. Failure or delay in obtaining a listing on another stock exchange
will drastically reduce the liquidity of the Common Shares. There can be no assurance that a listing on
another exchange will be obtained.
Substantial Capital Requirements
The Company will be required to acquire additional assets in order to continue as a viable entity. The
Company has signed an agreement to acquire a private Brazilian oil and gas company. In order to acquire
these additional assets, the Company will require additional capital. There can be no assurance that debt
or equity financing will be available or sufficient to meet these requirements or for other corporate
purposes or, if debt or equity financing is available, that it will be on terms acceptable to the Company.
The inability of the Company to access sufficient capital for its operations and to complete the acquisition
will have a material adverse effect on Fortress’ business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects including its ability to continue in business.
Volatility of Oil and Natural Gas Prices
The results of operations and financial condition are dependent on the prices received for the Company’s
natural gas production. Natural gas prices have fluctuated widely during recent years and are subject to
fluctuations in response to relatively minor changes in supply, demand, market uncertainty and other
factors that are beyond the Company’s control. These factors include, but are not limited to, worldwide
political instability, foreign supply of natural gas, the level of consumer product demand, government
regulations and taxes, the price and availability of alternative fuels and the overall economic
environment. Any decline in natural gas prices could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
operations, financial condition, proved reserves, borrowing capacity, profitability, cash flow from
operating activities. No assurance can be given that natural gas prices will be at levels which will generate
profits for the Company.
Capital Markets
As a result of the weakened global economic situation and the Company’s current financial status, the
Company will have restricted access to capital. As future capital expenditures will be financed out of cash
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generated from operations, borrowings and possible future equity sales, the Company’s ability to do so is
dependent on, among other factors, the overall state of capital markets and investor demand for
investments in the energy industry and the Company’s securities in particular.
To the extent that external sources of capital become limited or unavailable or available on onerous
terms, the Company’s ability to make capital investments, maintain existing assets or acquire additional
assets may be impaired, and its assets, liabilities, business, financial condition and results of operations
may be materially and adversely affected as a result.
Need to Replace Reserves
Given the Company’s sale of substantially all its assets, the Company’s future oil and natural gas reserves
and production, and therefore its cash flows, will be highly dependent upon the Company’s success in
acquiring or discovering additional reserves. Without reserve additions through exploration, acquisition or
development activities, the Company’s reserves and production will decline over time as reserves are
exploited. The business of exploring for, developing or acquiring reserves is capital intensive. As the
Company is currently cash flow negative, to the extent external sources of capital become limited or
unavailable, the Company’s ability to make the necessary capital investments to maintain and expand its
oil and natural gas reserves will be impaired. In addition, there can be no assurance that the Company will
be able to find and develop or acquire additional reserves at acceptable costs.
Acquisition Risks
The Company's business plan includes acquiring additional oil and natural gas assets in Brazil. Although
the Company performed a review of the acquired properties that the Company believes is consistent with
industry practices, it generally is not feasible to review in depth every individual property involved in each
acquisition. Ordinarily, the Company will focus its review efforts on the higher-value properties and will
sample the remainder. However, even a detailed review of records and properties may not necessarily
reveal every existing or potential problem, nor will it permit a buyer to become sufficiently familiar with
the properties to assess fully their deficiencies and potential. Inspections may not always be performed
on every well, and environmental problems, such as ground water contamination, are not necessarily
observable even when an inspection is undertaken. Even when problems are identified, the Company
often assumes certain environmental and other risks and liabilities in connection with acquired
properties. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved oil and gas
reserves and actual future production rates and associated costs with respect to acquired properties, and
actual results may vary substantially from those assumed in the estimates.
Failure to Realize Anticipated Benefits of Acquisition
The Company intends on acquiring additional assets in Brazil and focusing the Company’s efforts on these
new properties. Achieving the benefits of this acquisition depends in part on successfully consolidating
functions and integrating operations and procedures in a timely and efficient manner as well as the
Company's ability to realize the anticipated growth opportunities and synergies from combining the new
assets and operations with those of the Company. The development and exploitation of the new assets
will require substantial management effort, time and resources. There can be no assurance that the
Company will be able to achieve the anticipated benefits of the acquisition or that the Company will be
successful in its exploration, development or exploitation efforts on the new properties.
Operating Hazards and Other Uncertainties
Acquiring, developing and exploring for oil and natural gas involves many risks, which even a combination
of experience, knowledge and careful evaluation may not be able to overcome. These risks include, but
are not limited to, encountering unexpected formations or pressures, premature declines of reservoirs,
blow-outs, equipment failures and other accidents, cratering, sour gas releases, uncontrollable flows of
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oil, natural gas or well fluids, adverse weather conditions, pollution, other environmental risks, fires and
spills. Although the Company maintains insurance in accordance with customary industry practice, the
Company is not fully insured against all of these risks. Losses resulting from the occurrence of these risks
could have a material adverse impact on us. Like other oil and natural gas companies, the Company
attempts to conduct its business and financial affairs so as to protect against political and economic risks
applicable to operations in the jurisdictions where the Company operates but there can be no assurance
that the Company will be successful in so protecting itself. Losses resulting from the occurrence of any of
these risks could have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition and therefore on the
amounts to be distributed to shareholders.
The Company is also subject to deliverability uncertainties related to the proximity of its reserves to
pipeline and processing facilities and the possible inability to secure space on pipelines, which deliver oil
and natural gas to commercial markets.
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TRANSITION TO IFRS
Effective January 1, 2011, Canadian public companies were required to adopt International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) which includes comparatives for 2010. The Company’s IFRS accounting
policies are provided in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2011. In addition, note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2011 provides reconciliations between the Company’s 2010 previous GAAP results and its 2010 results
under IFRS.
The following provides summary reconciliations of Fortress’s January 1, 2010 previous GAAP to IFRS
reconciliations along with a discussion of the significant IFRS accounting policy changes:
Summary Statement of Financial Position
As at date of transition to IFRS – January 1, 2010
Note

Current assets
Exploration and evaluation assets
Property, plant and equipment, net

(i)
(ii)

Current liabilities
Decommissioning liabilities
Share capital
Warrants
Contributed surplus
Accumulated losses

(iv)
(vi)

(vii)
(i) to (vii)

Previous
GAAP

$ 7,431
90,017
$ 97,448
$ 30,928
4,324
140,094
5,406
15,435
(98,739)
$ 97,448

Effect of
transition
to IFRS
$

3,900
(28,698)
$(24,798)
$
462
1,362
(647)
259
(26,234)
$(24,798)

IFRS

$ 7,431
3,900
61,319
$ 72,650
$31,390
5,686
139,447
5,406
15,694
(124,973)
$72,650

On transition to IFRS, on January 1, 2010, Fortress used certain exemptions allowed under IFRS 1, “First
Time Adoption of International Reporting Standards”. The exemptions used were as follows:
(i)

Oil and gas properties are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment (“PP&E”) or Exploration and
Evaluation assets (“E&E”). Fortress reclassified all E&E expenditures included in the PP&E balance
under previous GAAP, as a separate item under IFRS. These assets are measured at cost and are not
depleted but will be assessed for impairment when indicators suggest the possibility of impairment.
Once these E&E assets have reached technical feasibility and commercial viability, they are
transferred to PP&E. At the time of transfer, they were subjected to an impairment test. Fortress’s
E&E assets primarily consist of undeveloped exploration lands and at January 1, 2010 are valued at
$3,900,000.
The Company recorded an impairment loss of $591,000 on E&E assets on transition to IFRS.

(ii)

Under IFRS, PP&E assets are grouped into areas designated as cash generating units (“CGU”) for the
purposes of impairment testing and further broken down into components within the CGU for
purposes of depletion and depreciation. IFRS 1 provides for the allocation of the previous GAAP net
book value of PP&E assets, excluding E&E assets, to CGUs and components on a pro rata basis using
the reserve volumes or values as at December 31, 2009.
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Fortress elected to allocate the PP&E balance using reserve values and at January 1, 2010, the value
allocated to the PP&E assets was $61,319,000.
Under previous GAAP, impairment testing on oil and gas properties is performed at a cost centre
level. Under IFRS, impairment testing is performed at the CGU level. This will result in a greater
number of impairment tests. The Company recorded an impairment loss of $24,207,000 on its PP&E
assets on transition to IFRS.
(iii) Depletion, depreciation and amortization of PP&E is calculated at a component level. Depletion of
resource properties within PP&E is calculated using the unit-of-production method under IFRS using
proved plus probable reserves. Depreciation of office equipment will continue to be calculated using
the straight-line method.
(iv) Flow-through shares are a Canadian income tax incentive which is the subject of specific guidance
under previous GAAP; however there is no specific guidance under IFRS. Under previous GAAP,
when flow-through shares were issued they were recorded at face value. The related future income
tax liability was established for the tax effect of the difference between the tax basis and the book
basis of the assets when renounced and was recorded as a reduction of share capital. The reduction
to share capital under previous GAAP was based on the corporate tax rates in effect at that time.
There was no income statement effect associated with the issuance of these shares
The Company has adopted a policy under IFRS where the proceeds from the offering are to be
allocated between the sale of the shares and the sale of the income tax benefit. The allocation is
made based on the difference between the quoted market price of the existing shares and the
amount an investor pays for the flow-through shares. This flow-through premium is recorded as a
liability that is reduced when qualifying flow-through expenditures are incurred. The reduction of
the flow-through liability is offset by an increase in the deferred tax liability and due to unrecognized
tax benefits in the Company’s case it is treated as a deferred income tax reduction. On transition to
IFRS on January 1, 2010, the Company recorded a flow-through share premium of $462,000, a
decrease in share capital of $647,000 and a decrease in accumulated losses of $185,000.
(v) IFRS 1 allows Fortress to use the IFRS rules for business combinations on a prospective basis rather
than restating all prior business combinations. Fortress elected to use this exemption; therefore,
Fortress did not record any adjustments to retrospectively restate any of its business combinations
that have occurred prior to January 1, 2010.
(vi) Under previous GAAP, Fortress’s decommissioning liability was discounted over its life based on a
credit adjusted risk free rate which was 9% at December 31, 2009. Under IFRS, Fortress is required
to revalue its liability for decommissioning costs at each reporting date using a current liabilityspecific discount rate. As a result, the Company’s decommissioning liability increased upon
transition to IFRS as the liability was re-valued using a discount rate of 4.1% to reflect the Company’s
estimated risk-free rate of interest. The re-valued decommissioning liability at the transition date
was $5,686,000 with the offsetting $1,362,000 increase in the liability being charged to accumulated
losses.
(vii) Under previous GAAP, Fortress expensed share-based compensation on a straight-line basis. Under
IFRS, share-based payments are expensed based on a graded vesting schedule. Fortress also
incorporated a forfeiture multiplier rather than account for forfeitures as they occur as was
practiced under previous GAAP. On transition to IFRS, contributed surplus and accumulated losses
increased by $259,000.
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The following provides summary reconciliations of Fortress’ 2010 previous GAAP to IFRS results:
Summary Statement of Financial Position Reconciliations
As at December 31, 2010
Note

Current assets
Exploration and evaluation assets
Property, plant and equipment, net

(i)
(ii)

Current liabilities
Decommissioning liabilities
Share capital
Warrants
Contributed surplus
Accumulated losses

(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(i) to (v)

Previous
GAAP

$ 9,065
2,178
$11,243
$ 3,734
789
140,068
5,406
16,239
(154,993)
$11,243

Effect of
transition
to IFRS
$

1,000
1,240
$2,240
$
461
(621)
14
2,386
$2,240

IFRS

$ 9,065
1,000
3,418
$13,483
$ 3,734
1,250
139,447
5,406
16,253
(152,607)
$13,483

(i)

The E&E adjustment includes assets transferred from PP&E (increase of $4,578,000 in E&E), an
impairment loss ($2,995,000 decrease in E&E), and a change in allocation of proceeds on the sale of
oil and gas assets on August 31, 2010 ($583,000 decrease in E&E).

(ii)

The PP&E adjustment includes the impact of the reclassification of E&E assets ($4,578,000
decrease in PP&E), lower depletion as a result of using proved plus probable reserves to calculate
depletion ($3,089,000 increase in PP&E), a change in impairment losses ($1,455,000 increase in
PP&E), a change in the loss on sale of oil and gas assets ($1,530,000 increase in PP&E), and a
change in decommissioning liabilities ($256,000 decrease in PP&E).

(iii)

The decommissioning liabilities adjustment includes the effects of a change in discount rate
(increase of $1,362,000 in decommissioning liabilities), a change in accretion expense (decrease of
$62,000 in decommissioning liabilities), and a change in net dispositions of oil and gas properties
(decrease of $839,000 in decommissioning liabilities).

(iv)

The adjustments related to accounting for flow-through shares resulted in a decrease to share
capital of $621,000 with a corresponding decrease in accumulated losses.

(v)

Includes recalculation of share-based compensation incorporating graded vesting and a forfeiture
multiplier.
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Summary Net Loss Reconciliation
2010

Net loss as reported under previous GAAP
Change in exploration and evaluation
expenses
Change in depletion, depreciation and
amortization
Change in impairment losses
Change in share-based compensation
Change in accretion expense
Change in loss on sale of oil and gas
properties
Change in deferred income tax expense
Net loss as reported under IFRS

Q1
$(10,013)

Q2
$(39,985)

2010
Q3
$(3,390)

Q4
$(2,866)

Annual
$(56,254)

(443)

(1,937)

(24)

-

(2,404)

1,553
705
(10)
18

1,356
24,957
(10)
34

197
265
16

(17)
(6)

3,089
25,662
245
62

(750)
1,073
$(8,940)

24,400
$(15,585)

1,868
2,322
$(1,068)

(338)
1,186
825
$(2,041)

1,530
436
28,620
$(27,634)

Impact of Transition to IFRS on 2010 Results:
•

Exploration and Evaluation (“E&E) – In 2010, Fortress recorded impairment losses on E&E assets of
$2,404,000 on amounts reclassified from PP&E, under previous GAAP, to E&E under IFRS.

•

Depletion, depreciation and amortization expense – Under IFRS, Fortress has chosen to calculate
the depletion expense utilizing proved plus probable reserves as opposed to proved reserves under
previous GAAP. This has resulted in a reduction of depletion, depreciation and amortization
expense of $3,089,000 in 2010.

•

Divestitures – Under previous GAAP, proceeds from divestitures were deducted from the full cost
pool without recognition of a gain or loss unless the divestiture resulted in a change in the
depletion rate of 20% or greater in which case, a gain or loss was recorded. Also, under previous
GAAP, the sale proceeds were allocated based on proved reserves. Under IFRS, gains and losses
are recorded on divestitures and farmouts and are calculated as the difference between the
proceeds and the net book value of the asset disposed of. For the year ended December 31, 2010,
the Company recorded a $530,000 gain on disposition of oil and gas properties for IFRS as
compared to a loss of $1,000,000 under previous GAAP.

•

Impairment of PP&E – Under IFRS, impairment tests of PP&E are performed at a CGU level as
opposed to the entire Company’s PP&E balance with a full cost ceiling test under previous GAAP.
Impairment is recognized if the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount for a CGU. The
recoverable amount is determined using fair value less costs to sell based on discounted future
cash flows of proved plus probable reserves using forecast prices and costs. As a result of
decreased natural gas prices and the sale of oil and gas assets on August 31, 2010 which set the fair
value less costs to sell for these properties, the Company recorded an impairment charge of
$21,814,000 under IFRS compared to $47,476,000 under previous GAAP. Under IFRS, PP&E
impairments can be reversed in the future if the recoverable amount increases.

•

Share-based compensation – the Company recorded a reduction in share-based compensation
expense of $245,000 reflecting the graded vesting schedule.
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•

Accretion expense – In 2010, the Company recorded a reduction in accretion expense of
decommissioning liabilities of $62,000 due to a change in the discount rate used.

•

Deferred income tax expense – the Company recorded an additional reduction of deferred income
taxes in 2010 related to flow-through shares.
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FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2011

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of management. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS"”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). Financial statements are not
precise since they include certain amounts based upon estimates and judgments. When alternative accounting
methods exist, management has chosen those it deems to be the most appropriate to ensure fair and consistent
presentation. The financial information presented elsewhere in this financial report is consistent with that in the
consolidated financial statements.
Management maintains financial and operating systems that include appropriate and effective internal controls.
These systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is reliable and relevant,
and the Company’s assets are appropriately accounted for and adequately safeguarded.
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting
and is ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the financial statements. The Board of Directors carries out
this responsibility principally through its Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors and reviews the financial statements and Management’s
Discussion and Analysis; assesses the adequacy of the internal controls of the Company; considers the report of the
external auditors; examines the fees and expenses for audit services; and recommends to the Board of Directors the
independent auditors for appointment by the shareholders. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board of
Directors for consideration when approving the annual financial statements for issuance to the shareholders.
KPMG LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, has been engaged, as approved by a vote of the
shareholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting, to audit and provide their independent audit opinion on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2011. Their report,
contained herein, outlines the nature of their audit and expresses their opinion on the consolidated financial
statements.

(signed)
J. Cameron Bailey
President & CEO
Fortress Energy Inc.
Calgary, Canada
April 20, 2012

(signed)
Jamie Jeffs, C.A.
Chief Financial Officer
Fortress Energy Inc.

KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants
2700 205 - 5th Avenue SW
Calgary AB T2P 4B9

Telephone (403) 691-8000
Telefax
(403) 691-8008
Internet
www.kpmg.ca

To the Shareholders of Fortress Energy Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Fortress Energy Inc. (the
“Company”) which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2011,
December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010, the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss,
changes in equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, and
the notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Fortress Energy Inc. as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative
(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.

Emphasis of Matter – Going Concern
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the consolidated financial statements
which indicates that the Company has a history of operating losses and as at December 31, 2011 has a
working capital deficiency of $1,383,000. These conditions, along with the other matters explained in
Note 2 to the financial statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt about Fortress Energy Inc.’s ability to continue as a going concern.
(signed)
“KPMG LLP”
Chartered Accountants
April 20, 2012
Calgary, Canada

FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Note
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Marketable securities
Commodity contracts
Total current assets

December 31,
2010
(note 20)

January 1, 2010

1,008
357
284
850
2,499

$ 2,433
1,750
338
4,544
9,065

$ 64
5,576
470
1,321
7,431

1,000
3,519
4,519
$ 7,018

1,000
3,418
4,418
$ 13,483

3,900
61,319
65,219
$ 72,650

December 31,
2011

$

10

Non-current assets
Exploration and evaluation assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

11
12

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Bank loans
Trade and other payables
Indemnification of flow-through share subscribers payable
Income taxes payable
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Decommissioning liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital
Warrants
Contributed surplus
Accumulated losses
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

$
13

1,069
2,587
226
3,882

$

(note 20)

1,914
1,656
164
3,734

$ 23,044
8,182
164
31,390

14

1,741
5,623

1,250
4,984

5,686
37,076

15
15
15

139,447
21,659
(159,711)
1,395
$ 7,018

139,447
5,406
16,253
(152,607)
8,499
$ 13,483

139,447
5,406
15,694
(124,973)
35,574
$ 72,650

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved by the Board
(signed)
J. Cameron Bailey
Director

Fortress Energy Inc.

(signed)
George Watson
Director
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FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHESIVE LOSS
For the year ended December 31, 2011, with comparative figures for 2010
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
Note
REVENUE
Natural gas sales
Royalties
Gain on commodity contracts
EXPENSES
Operating
Transportation
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
Depletion, depreciation and amortization
General and administrative
Finance expenses
Other expenses

11
12
6
7

$

2011

2010

855
(82)
773

$ 11,387
(473)
3,948
14,862

289
199
74
838
2,513
3,166
564
7,643
(6,870)

5,924
987
2,404
26,123
4,850
1,780
784
42,852
(27,990)

Loss before income tax
Income tax expense (reduction):
Current
Deferred

9
9

Net loss and comprehensive loss
Net loss per share
Basic
Diluted

234
$
234
$ (7,104)

106
(462)
(356)
$ (27,634)

15
15

$ (0.13)
$ (0.13)

$ (0.50)
$ (0.50)

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Note
Balance at January 1, 2010
Share-based compensation
Net loss for the year
Balance at December 31, 2010

15

Balance at January 1, 2011
Net loss for the year
Expiry of warrants
Balance at December 31, 2011

Share capital
$139,447
$139,447
$139,447
$139,447

Warrants Contributed surplus
$5,406
$15,694
559
$5,406
$16,253
$5,406
(5,406)
$
-

$16,253
5,406
$21,659

Accumulated
losses
$(124,973)
(27,634)
$(152,607)

Total shareholders’
equity
$ 35,574
559
(27,634)
$ 8,499

$(152,607)
(7,104)
$(159,711)

$ 8,499
(7,104)
$ 1,395

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended December 31, 2011, with comparative figures for 2010
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Note
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Unrealized loss on commodity contracts
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
Depletion, depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation
Finance expenses
Gain on sale of oil and gas assets
Deferred income taxes
Interest
Change in non-cash working capital
17
Net cash from (used in) operating activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Exploration and evaluation expenditures
Property, plant and equipment expenditures
Property divestitures
Proceeds on sale of marketable securities
Change in non-cash working capital
Net cash from investing activities

17

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of bank loans
Change in non-cash working capital
Net cash from (used in) financing activities

17

Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2011

2010

$ (7,104)
74
838
3,166
(402)
545
(2,883)

$ (27,634)
1,321
2,404
26,123
522
1,780
(530)
(462)
(1,318)
(650)
1,556

(64)
(500)
972
161
569

(63)
(1,684)
25,146
(856)
22,543

889
889

(23,044)
1,314
(21,730)

(1,425)
2,433
$ 1,008

2,369
64
2,433

$

The notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Fortress Energy Inc.

8

For the year ended December 31, 2011

FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2011, with comparative figures for 2010
(tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars except share and per share information)
1.

REPORTING ENTITY
Fortress Energy Inc. (“Fortress” or the “Company”) was incorporated on January 15, 2007 under the Business
Corporations Act (Alberta). Fortress is a Calgary-based junior oil and natural gas exploration and development
company operating in the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin (“WCSB”), which comprises a single operating
segment.
The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended December 31, 2011 comprise the
Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary. The Company conducts many of its activities jointly with others; these
financial statements reflect only the Company’s proportionate interest in such activities.

2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION
(a)

Going concern uncertainty:
The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which
assumes the realization of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business for the
foreseeable future. The Company has experienced consecutive losses and has accumulated losses of
$159,711,000 to December 31, 2011.
As at December 31, 2011, the Company has cash on hand of $1,008,000 and 1,574,244 common shares of a
publicly listed entity with a carrying value of $850,000. The Company sold a portion of its shares in this
publicly listed entity in 2011 and subsequently sold the remaining shares to allow it to continue to operate and
to provide the initial US$1,000,000 deposit to secure the acquisition of a Brazilian oil and gas company (note
19). The Company is currently negotiating an equity financing to fund the remainder of the purchase price of
this acquisition. The Company expects that the closing of this acquisition and financing will allow the
Company to continue to operate for the foreseeable future.
The Company requires additional working capital to fund operations until the acquisition is complete. The
Company has issued $245,000 of principal amount of convertible debentures in the first tranche of an interim
financing for the required capital and is anticipating to raise a total of $1,500,000.
There is significant uncertainty regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, which is
dependent upon achieving on-going cash flow from operating activities and receiving additional support from
its creditors and investors.
The Company is experiencing negative cash flow from operating activities. There is no certainty as to when
the Company will have positive cash flow. The Company is solely dependent upon outside sources and third
party financings to obtain the necessary capital to fund operations until the acquisition closes as well as to
complete the acquisition and fund a proposed drilling program on the acquired oil and gas assets and to
explore and develop its properties and the Brazilian properties or acquire further properties or pursue other
business opportunities or restructure the Company and continue as a going concern. If the Company is unable
to secure sufficient financing, delays or postponement of future business opportunities or development or
production of the Company’s properties will result. There can be no assurance that the additional capital
required or other types of financing will be available if needed or even if available, the terms of such financing
will be acceptable to the Company. Therefore, failure to obtain suitable financing would, in all likelihood, lead
to the liquidation of the Company’s assets. There is no assurance that even if the acquisition is completed the
Company will be successful in developing the acquired properties. In the event the Company cannot develop
its properties at will, in all likelihood, this will lead to a liquidation of the Company’s assets.
The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 do not contain any adjustments to the
amounts and classification of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to
continue in business.

(b)

CCAA proceedings:
On March 2, 2011, Fortress applied to the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta for an Order under the
Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada)(“CCAA”) staying all claims and actions against the Company
and its assets. Fortress had taken this action to enable it to challenge a reassessment issued by the Canada
Revenue Agency (“CRA”) which reassessment was in the amount of $18,000,000. In addition, the Company
received provincial reassessments of approximately $6,200,000 as a result of the CRA reassessments.
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FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2011, with comparative figures for 2010
(tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars except share and per share information)
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)
(b)

CCAA proceedings (continued):
On October 26, 2011, the Company received revised notices of reassessment from the CRA indicating that CRA
was vacating its claim, reversing the previous assessments resulting in no federal income taxes or penalties
payable. The Company later received revised provincial reassessments indicating that its previous
reassessments were also being vacated. As a result, Fortress no longer requires the protection of the Order
under the CCAA and on October 28, 2011, the Company applied to the Court of Queen’s Bench of Alberta to
discharge the Company from the CCAA proceedings.

(c)

Statement of compliance:
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). A summary
of significant accounting policies and methods of computation is presented in note 3. The Company’s
accounting policies have been applied retrospectively and consistently to all years presented with the
exception of certain IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS 1”),
transition elections and exemptions the Company applied in its transition from Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles (“previous GAAP”) to IFRS as discussed in note 20. The impact of the transition to IFRS on
the Company’s reported financial position, financial performance and cash flows, including the nature and
effect of significant changes in accounting policies from those used in the Company’s previous GAAP
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010 is included in note 20.
After applying the transition exemptions of IFRS 1, these consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except as detailed in the Company’s accounting policies disclosed in note 3.
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors on April 20,
2011.

(d)

Functional and presentation currency:
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency.

(e)

Use of estimates and judgments:
The timely preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and income and expenses. Accordingly, actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. Significant estimates and
judgments made by management in the preparation of these financial statements are outlined below.
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies:
The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that management
has made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies and that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognized in these interim condensed financial statements:
(i)

Reserves
Estimation of reported recoverable quantities of proved and probable reserves include judgmental
assumptions regarding production profile, commodity prices, exchange rates, remediation costs, timing
and amount of future development costs, and production, transportation and marketing costs for future
cash flows. It also requires interpretation of geological and geophysical models in anticipated
recoveries.
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FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2011, with comparative figures for 2010
(tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars except share and per share information)
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)
(e)

Use of estimates and judgments (continued):
(i)

Reserves (continued)
The economical, geological and technical factors used to estimate reserves may change from period to
period. Changes in reported reserves can impact the carrying values of the Company’s petroleum and
natural gas properties and equipment, the calculation of depletion and depreciation, the provision for
decommissioning liabilities, and the recognition of deferred tax assets due to changes in expected future
cash flows. The recoverable quantities of reserves and estimated cash flows from the Company’s
petroleum and natural gas interests are independently evaluated by reserve engineers at least annually.
The Company’s petroleum and natural gas reserves represent the estimated quantities of petroleum,
natural gas and natural gas liquids which geological, geophysical and engineering data demonstrate with
a specified degree of certainty to be economically recoverable in future years from known reservoirs
and which are considered commercially producible. Such reserves may be considered commercially
producible if management has the intention of developing and producing them and such intention is
based upon (i) a reasonable assessment of the future economics of such production; (ii) a reasonable
expectation that there is a market for all or substantially all the expected petroleum and natural gas
production; and (iii) evidence that the necessary production, transmission and transportation facilities
are available or can be made available. Reserves may only be considered proven and probable if
producibility is supported by either production or conclusive formation tests. The Company’s petroleum
and natural gas reserves are determined pursuant to National Instrument 51-101, Standard of
Disclosures for Oil and Gas Activities.

(ii)

Identification of cash-generating units
Fortress’ assets are aggregated into cash-generating units, for the purpose of calculating impairment,
based on their ability to generate largely independent cash flows. By their nature, these estimates and
assumptions are subject to measurement uncertainty and may impact the carrying value of the
Company’s assets in future periods.

(iii) Share-based payments
All equity-settled, share-based awards issued by the Company are recorded at fair value using the BlackScholes option-pricing model. In assessing the fair value of equity-based compensation, estimates have
to be made regarding the expected volatility in share price, option life, dividend yield, risk-free rate and
estimated forfeitures at the initial grant date.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty:
The following are the key assumptions concerning the sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities.
(i)

Decommissioning liabilities
The Company estimates future remediation costs of production facilities, wells and pipelines at different
stages of development and construction of assets or facilities. In most instances, removal of assets
occurs many years into the future. This requires judgment regarding abandonment date, future
environmental and regulatory legislation, the extent of reclamation activities, the engineering
methodology for estimating cost, future removal technologies in determining the removal cost and
liability-specific discount rates to determine the present value of these cash flows.

Fortress Energy Inc.

11

For the year ended December 31, 2011

FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2011, with comparative figures for 2010
(tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars except share and per share information)
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)
(e)

Use of estimates and judgments (continued):
(ii)

Impairment of petroleum and natural gas assets
For the purposes of determining whether impairment of petroleum and natural gas assets has occurred,
and the extent of any impairment or its reversal, the key assumptions the Company uses in estimating
future cash flows are future petroleum and natural gas prices, expected production volumes and
anticipated recoverable quantities of proved and probable reserves. These assumptions are subject to
change as new information becomes available. Changes in economic conditions can also affect the rate
used to discount future cash flow estimates. Changes in the aforementioned assumptions could affect
the carrying amounts of assets, and impairment charges and reversal will affect profit or loss.

(iii) Income taxes
Tax provisions are based on enacted or substantively enacted laws. Changes in those laws could affect
amounts recognized in profit or loss both in the period of change, which would include any impact on
cumulative provisions, and in future periods. Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent it is
considered probable that those assets will be recoverable. This involves an assessment of when those
deferred tax assets are likely to reverse and a judgment as to whether or not there will be sufficient
taxable profits available to offset the tax assets when they do reverse. This requires assumptions
regarding future profitability and is therefore inherently uncertain. To the extent assumptions regarding
future profitability change, there can be an increase or decrease in the amounts recognized in respect of
deferred tax assets as well as the amounts recognized in profit or loss in the period in which the change
occurs.
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements.
(a)

Basis of consolidation:
(i)

Subsidiaries:
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In
assessing control, potential voting rights that currently are exercisable are taken into account. The
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control ceases.
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for acquisitions of subsidiaries and assets that
meet the definition of a business under IFRS. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of
the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is recognized immediately in the statement of income.

(ii)

Jointly controlled operations and jointly controlled assets:
Many of the Company’s oil and natural gas activities involve jointly controlled assets. The consolidated
financial statements include the Company’s share of these jointly controlled assets and a proportionate
share of the relevant revenue and related costs.

(iii)

Transactions eliminated on consolidation:
Intercompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from
intercompany transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2011, with comparative figures for 2010
(tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars except share and per share information)
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b)

Financial instruments:
(i)

Non-derivative financial instruments:
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
marketable securities, bank loans, and trade and other payables. Non-derivative financial instruments
are recognized initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, any
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition all non-derivative financial
instruments are measured as described below.
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, term deposits held with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.
Other non-derivative financial instruments, such as trade and other receivables, bank loans, and trade
and other payables, are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment losses.
Marketable securities are recorded at fair value through profit and loss.

(ii)

Derivative financial instruments:
The Company enters into certain financial derivative contracts in order to manage the exposure to
market risks from fluctuations in commodity prices. These instruments are not used for trading or
speculative purposes. The Company has not designated its financial derivative contracts as effective
accounting hedges, and thus not applied hedge accounting, even though the Company considers all
commodity contracts to be economic hedges. As a result, all financial derivative contracts are classified
as fair value through profit or loss and are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. Transaction costs
are recognized in profit or loss when incurred.

(iii)

Share capital:
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common
shares and share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
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FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2011, with comparative figures for 2010
(tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars except share and per share information)
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(c)

Property, plant and equipment and exploration and evaluation assets:
(i)

Recognition and measurement.
Pre-licence costs are recognized in the consolidated statement of loss as incurred.
Exploration and evaluation expenditures:
Exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) costs, including the costs of acquiring licences and directly
attributable general and administrative costs, initially are capitalized as either tangible or intangible E&E
assets according to the nature of the assets acquired. The costs are accumulated in cost centres by well,
field or exploration area pending determination of technical feasibility and commercial viability.
E&E assets are assessed for impairment if: (i) sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility and
commercial viability; and (ii) facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the
recoverable amount. For purposes of impairment testing, E&E assets are allocated to a cash generating
unit (“CGU”).
The technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource is generally considered
to be determinable when proven reserves are determined to exist. A review of each exploration licence
or field is carried out, at least annually, to ascertain whether proven reserves have been discovered.
Upon determination of technical feasibility and commercial viability, intangible E&E assets attributable
to those reserves are first tested for impairment and then reclassified from E&E assets to a separate
category within tangible assets referred to as oil and natural gas interests.
Development and production costs:
Items of property, plant and equipment, which include oil and gas development and production assets,
are measured at cost less accumulated depletion and depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Development and production assets are grouped into CGU’s for impairment testing. The Company has
only one CGU for development and production assets being its Buick Creek property. When significant
parts of an item of property, plant and equipment, including oil and natural gas interests, have different
useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components).
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, including oil and natural gas
interests, are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment and are recognized net within “other income” or “other expenses” in
profit or loss.

(ii)

Subsequent costs:
Costs incurred subsequent to the determination of technical feasibility and commercial viability and the
costs of replacing parts of property, plant and equipment are recognized as oil and natural gas interests
only when they increase the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which they
relate. All other expenditures are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Such capitalized oil and
natural gas interests generally represent costs incurred in developing proved and/or probable reserves
and bringing in or enhancing production from such reserves, and are accumulated on a field or
geotechnical area basis. The carrying amount of any replaced or sold component is derecognized. The
costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognized in profit or loss as
incurred.
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FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2011, with comparative figures for 2010
(tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars except share and per share information)
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(c)

Property, plant and equipment and exploration and evaluation assets (continued):
(iii)

Depletion and depreciation:
The net carrying value of development or production assets is depleted using the unit of production
method by reference to the ratio of production in the year to the related proven and probable reserves,
taking into account estimated future development costs necessary to bring those reserves into
production. Future development costs are estimated taking into account the level of development
required to produce the reserves. These estimates are reviewed by independent reserve engineers at
least annually.
Proven and probable reserves are estimated using independent reserve engineer reports and represent
the estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids which geological, geophysical
and engineering data demonstrate with a specified degree of certainty to be recoverable in future years
from known reservoirs and which are considered commercially producible. There should be a 50 percent
statistical probability that the actual quantity of recoverable reserves will be more than the amount
estimated as proven and probable and a 50 percent statistical probability that it will be less. The
equivalent statistical probabilities for the proven component of proven and probable reserves are 90
percent and 10 percent, respectively.
Such reserves may be considered commercially producible if management has the intention of
developing and producing them and such intention is based upon:
•

a reasonable assessment of the future economics of such production;

•

a reasonable expectation that there is a market for all or substantially all the expected oil and
natural gas production; and

•

evidence that the necessary production, transmission and transportation facilities are available or
can be made available.

Reserves may only be considered proven and probable if producibility is supported by either actual
production or a conclusive formation test. The area of reservoir considered proven includes (a) that
portion delineated by drilling and defined by gas-oil and/or oil-water contacts, if any, or both, and (b)
the immediately adjoining portions not yet drilled, but which can be reasonably judged as economically
productive on the basis of available geophysical, geological and engineering data. In the absence of
information on fluid contacts, the lowest known structural occurrence of oil and natural gas controls the
lower proved limit of the reservoir.
Reserves which can be produced economically through application of improved recovery techniques
(such as fluid injection) are only included in the proven and probable classification when successful
testing by a pilot project, the operation of an installed program in the reservoir, or other reasonable
evidence (such as, experience of the same techniques on similar reservoirs or reservoir simulation
studies) provides support for the engineering analysis on which the project or program was based.
The estimated useful lives for certain production assets for the current and comparative periods are as
follows:
Gas processing plant and pipelines
Turnaround costs

Unit of production
1 year

For other assets, depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment.
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FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2011, with comparative figures for 2010
(tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars except share and per share information)
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(c)

Property, plant and equipment and exploration and evaluation assets (continued):
(iii) Depletion and depreciation (continued):
The estimated useful lives for other assets for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Office equipment, furniture and fixtures

5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.
(d)

Leased assets:
Leases where the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair
value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is
accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.
Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expenses and the
reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expenses are allocated to each year during the lease term so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Other leases are operating leases, which are not recognized on the Company’s statement of financial position.
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the
term of the lease.

(e)

Impairment:
(i)

Financial assets:
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective
evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates
that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining
financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.
All impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.
An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognized. For financial assets measured at amortized cost the reversal is
recognized in profit or loss.
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FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2011, with comparative figures for 2010
(tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars except share and per share information)
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(e)

Impairment (continued):
(ii)

Non-financial assets:
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than E&E assets and deferred tax
assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.
If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and other
intangible assets that have indefinite lives or that are not yet available for use an impairment test is
completed each year. E&E assets are assessed for impairment when they are reclassified to property,
plant and equipment, as oil and natural gas interests, and also if facts and circumstances suggest that
the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of
other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit” or “CGU”). The recoverable amount of an
asset or a CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Value in use is generally computed by reference to the present value of the future
cash flows expected to be derived from production of proven and probable reserves.
The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to
the CGU’s or groups of CGU’s that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. E&E
assets are allocated to related CGU’s or groups of CGU’s when they are assessed for impairment, both at
the time of any triggering facts and circumstances as well as upon their eventual reclassification to
producing assets (oil and natural gas interests in property, plant and equipment).
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in
respect of CGU’s are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units
and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit (Company of units) on a pro rata
basis.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses
recognized in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depletion and depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been
recognized.

(f)

Share-based payments:
The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is recognized as compensation expense, within
general and administrative expenses, with a corresponding increase in contributed surplus over the vesting
period.

(g)

Provisions:
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.
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FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2011, with comparative figures for 2010
(tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars except share and per share information)
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(h)

Decommissioning liabilities:
The Company’s activities give rise to dismantling, decommissioning and site disturbance re-mediation
activities. Provision is made for the estimated cost of site restoration and capitalized in the relevant asset
category.
Decommissioning liabilities are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. Subsequent to the initial measurement,
the obligation is adjusted at the end of each period to reflect the passage of time and changes in the
estimated future cash flows underlying the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time
is recognized as finance costs whereas increases/decreases due to changes in the estimated future cash flows
are capitalized. Actual costs incurred upon settlement of the decommissioning liabilities are charged against
the provision to the extent the provision was established.

(i)

Revenue:
Revenue from the sale of oil and natural gas is recorded when the significant risks and rewards of ownership
of the product is transferred to the buyer which is usually when legal title passes to the external party. This is
generally at the time product enters the pipeline.

(j)

Finance expenses:
Finance expense comprises interest expense on borrowings, interest on unspent flow-through share
obligations, accretion of the discount on provisions, impairment losses recognized on financial assets, and
corporate acquisition costs. Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of qualifying assets are capitalized
during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the assets for their intended use or sale. All
other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The capitalization
rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalized is the weighted average interest rate
applicable to the Company’s outstanding borrowings during the period.

(k)

Income tax:
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in
equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is
not a business combination. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences
arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be
applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally
enforceable right to offset, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same
taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

(l)

Earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders of the
Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings
per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders and the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of dilutive instruments such as options granted
to employees.
Fortress Energy Inc.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m)

Flow-through shares:
The resource expenditure deductions for income tax purposes related to exploration and development
activities funded by flow-through share arrangements are renounced to investors in accordance with tax
legislation. On issuance the premium received on flow-through shares being the difference in price over a
common share with no tax attributes, is recognized on the statement of financial position. As expenditures
are incurred the deferred tax liability associated with the renounced tax deductions are recognized through
profit or loss along with a pro-rata portion of the deferred premium.

(n)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted:
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – in November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 to address classification and
measurement of financial assets. In October 2010, the IASB revised the standard to include financial liabilities.
The standard is required to be adopted for periods beginning January 1, 2015. Portions of the standard remain
in development and the full impact of the standard will not be known until the project is complete.
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements – in May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10 which provides additional
guidance to determine whether an investee should be consolidated. The guidance applies to all investees,
including special purpose entities. The standard is required to be adopted for periods beginning January 1,
2013.
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements – in May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 11 which presents a new model for
determining whether an entity should account for joint arrangements using proportionate consolidation or
the equity method. An entity will have to follow the substance rather than legal form of a joint arrangement
and will no longer have a choice of accounting method. The standard is required to be adopted for periods
beginning January 1, 2013.
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities – in May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 12 which aggregates and
amends disclosure requirements included within other standards. The standard requires a company to provide
disclosures about subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities. The
standard is required to be adopted for periods beginning January 1, 2013.
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement – in May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 13 to provide comprehensive guidance
for instances where IFRS requires fair value to be used. The standard provides guidance on determining fair
value and requires disclosures about those measurements. The standard is required to be adopted for periods
beginning January 1, 2013.
IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income – in June 2011, the IASB issued amendments to
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to split items of other comprehensive income (OCI) between those
that are reclassed to income and those that do not. The standard is required to be adopted for periods
beginning on or after July 1, 2012.
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements – the IASB issued amendments to IAS 27 to coincide with changes made
to IFRS 10, but retains the current guidance for separate financial statements.
IAS 28 Investment in Associations and Joint Ventures – the IASB issued amendments to IAS 28 to coincide with
changes made to IFRS 10 and IFRS 11, but retains the current guidance for separate financial statements.
The Company is currently analyzing the impact, if any, that the adoption of these standards will have on its
consolidated financial statements.
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4.

DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES
A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions
made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.
(i)

Property, plant and equipment and exploration and evaluation assets:
The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognized in a business combination or used in impairment
tests, is based on market values. The market value of property, plant and equipment is the estimated amount
for which property, plant and equipment could be exchanged on the acquisition date between a willing buyer
and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. The market value of oil and natural gas interests (included
in property, plant and equipment) is estimated with reference to the discounted cash flows expected to be
derived from oil and natural gas production based on externally prepared reserve reports. The risk-adjusted
discount rate is specific to the asset with reference to general market conditions.
The market value of exploration and evaluation assets and other items of property, plant and equipment is
based on the quoted market prices for similar items.

(ii)

Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, and trade and other payables:
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, and trade and other payables is
estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting
date. At December 31, 2011, the fair value of these balances approximated their carrying value due to their
short term to maturity.

(iii)

Share options:
The fair value of employee share options is measured using a Black-Scholes option pricing model.
Measurement inputs include share price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected
volatility (based on weighted average historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available
information), weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historical experience and general
option holder behaviour), expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds).
There were no stock options outstanding at December 31, 2011 (or 2010).

(iv)

Marketable securities:
The fair value of marketable securities is based on unadjusted quoted market prices (level 1 fair values).
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(a)

Overview:
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks that arise as a result of its exploration,
development, production, and financing activities such as:
•

credit risk;

•

liquidity risk; and

•

market risk.

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s management of
capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements.
The Board of Directors oversees managements’ establishment and execution of the Company’s risk
management framework. Management has implemented and monitors compliance with risk management
policies. The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by
the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to market
conditions and the Company’s activities.
(b)

Credit risk:
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s receivables from joint
venture partners and oil and natural gas marketers. All of the Company’s operations are conducted in Canada.
The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer.
Credit risk is primarily related to the Company’s receivables from joint venture partners and petroleum and
natural gas marketers and the risk of financial loss if a customer, partner or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. A substantial portion of the Company’s accounts
receivable is with partners in the energy industry and is subject to normal industry credit risk. The Company
generally grants unsecured credit but routinely assesses the financial strength of its partners.
th

Receivables from petroleum and natural gas marketers are normally collected on the 25 day of the month
following production. The Company sells the majority of its production to a single petroleum and natural gas
marketer and, therefore, is subject to concentration risk which is mitigated by management’s policies and
practices related to credit risk, as discussed above. The Company historically has not experienced any
collection issues with its petroleum and natural gas marketers. However, the receivables are from participants
in the petroleum and natural gas sector, and collection of the outstanding balances is dependent on industry
factors such as commodity price fluctuations, escalating costs, the risk of unsuccessful drilling and occasional
disagreements between parties. The Company attempts to mitigate the risk from joint venture receivables by
obtaining partner approval of significant capital expenditures prior to expenditure.
The Company does not typically obtain collateral from petroleum and natural gas marketers or joint venture
partners; however in certain circumstances, it may cash call a partner in advance of the work. As well, the
Company does have the ability, in most cases, to withhold production from joint venture partners in the event
of non-payment.
The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts as determined by management based on their
assessment of collection and, therefore the carrying amount of accounts receivable generally represents the
maximum credit exposure.
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables at December 31, 2011 and 2010 was
$357,000 and $1,750,000, respectively.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(b)

Credit risk (continued):
At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company’s receivables consisted of:
2011
$
88
147
122
357

Natural gas marketing companies
Joint venture partners
Other
Total trade and other receivables

2010
$
59
1,511
180
1,750

As at December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company’s trade and other receivables are aged as follows:
2011
$
133
224
357

Current (less than 90 days)
Past due (more than 90 days)

(c)

2010
$
125
1,625
1,750

Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due (see
note 2). The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.
The Company prepares annual capital expenditure budgets, which are regularly monitored and updated as
considered necessary. Further, the Company utilizes authorizations for expenditures on both operated and non
operated projects to further manage capital expenditure. The Company also attempts to match its payment
cycle with collection of oil and natural gas revenue on the 25th of each month. To facilitate the capital
expenditure program, the Company relies on working capital and cash flows from operations (see note 2).
The contractual maturities of the Company’s trade and other payables balance of $1,069,000 (2010 $1,914,000) is less than 6 months.

(d)

Market risk:
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as commodity prices, foreign exchange rates and
interest rates will affect the Company’s income or the value of the financial instruments. The objective of
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while
optimising the return.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(d)

Market risk (continued):
Currency risk
Prices for oil are determined in global markets and generally denominated in United States dollars. Natural
gas prices obtained by the Company are influenced by both US and Canadian demand and the corresponding
North American supply, and recently, by imports of liquefied natural gas. The exchange rate effect cannot be
quantified but generally an increase in the value of the $CDN as compared to the $US will reduce the prices
received by the Company for its petroleum and natural gas sales.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates.
The Company has no outstanding loans or borrowings at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and, accordingly, is not
subject to interest rate risk.
Commodity price risk
Commodity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in
commodity prices. Commodity prices for oil and natural gas are impacted by not only the relationship
between the Canadian and United States dollar and also world economic events that dictate the levels of
supply and demand.
The Company does not enter into commodity contracts other than to meet the Company’s expected sale
requirements. There are no commodity contracts outstanding at December 31, 2011 (2010 – nil).

(e)

Capital management:
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying oil and natural gas assets. The Company considers its
capital structure to include shareholders’ equity and working capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Company may issue shares and adjust its capital spending to manage current and projected
debt levels.
The Company prepares annual capital expenditure budgets, which are updated as necessary depending on
varying factors including current and forecast prices, successful capital deployment and general industry
conditions. The annual and updated budgets are approved by the Board of Directors.
To assess capital and operating efficiency and financial strength, the Company continually monitors its
working capital (deficiency) which is a non-IFRS measure and is calculated as follows:

2011
$
2,499
(3,882)
(1,383)

Current assets
Current liabilities
Working capital (deficiency)
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6.

FINANCE EXPENSES

Unrealized loss on marketable securities
Realized loss on marketable securities
Interest on bank loans
Interest on unspent flow-through funds
Interest – other
Accretion of decommissioning liabilities
Finance expenses
7.

2011
$
935
1,787
384
18
42
3,166

2010
$
293
976
341
1
169
1,780

2011
$
(325)
889
564

2010
$
(530)
1,314
784

OTHER EXPENSES

Gain on sale of oil and gas assets
Refund of gas cost allowance and custom processing credits
Indemnification of flow-through shareholders
Other expenses

The Company received a refund of $325,000 in 2011 for royalties that it had paid in prior periods related to oil and gas
assets that it sold in August 2010. Specifically, this refund related to adjustments to gas cost allowance and custom
processing credits that are used in the determination of Alberta crown royalties.
8.

PERSONNEL EXPENSES
The aggregate payroll expense of employees and executive officers was as follows:
2011
$
372
27
399
399

Wages and salaries
Benefits and other personnel costs
Termination benefits
Share-based payments
Total employee remuneration
Capitalized portion of total remuneration

2010
$
875
158
895
586
2,514
(292)
2,222

The Company did not capitalize any personnel expenses in 2011 (2010 - $292,000).
In addition to their salaries, the Company also provides non-cash benefits to executive officers. Executive officers also
participate in the Company’s option program. Key management personnel compensation is comprise of the following:
2011
$
255
18
273

Wages and salaries
Benefits and other personnel costs
Termination benefits
Share-based payments (i)
(i)

2010
$
440
80
600
405
1,525

Represents the amortization of share-based compensation associated with options and restricted stock units
granted to executive officers as recorded in the consolidated financial statements.
Fortress Energy Inc.

24

For the year ended December 31, 2011

FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2011, with comparative figures for 2010
(tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars except share and per share information)
9.

INCOME TAXES
(a) The provision for income taxes reflects an effective tax rate which differs from the Federal and Provincial statutory
tax rates. The main differences are as follows:
2011
$
(6,870)
26.5%
(1,821)

Loss before income tax
Combined federal and provincial income tax rate
Expected income tax reduction
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
Share-based compensation
Tax payable on prior year assessments, interest and penalties
Portion of capital losses not deductible
Indemnification of flow-through share subscribers
Reinstatement of resource pools
Rate adjustments and other
Unrecognized tax benefits

2010
$
(27,990)
28.25%
(7,907)

148
234
106
237
41
236
371
(466)
(75)
494
6,853
1,889
234
106
Flow-through share premium
(462)
Income tax expense (reduction)
234
(356)
The current tax provision reflects reassessments of income taxes for prior years of acquired companies. The income
tax rate change is due to a change in the statutory Federal and provincial income tax rates.
(b) Unrecognized deferred tax assets:
The components of the Company’s unrecognized deferred tax assets are as follows:
2011
$
59,812
1,228
5,167
1,001
1,741
789
69,738

Property, plant and equipment
Marketable securities
Non-capital losses
Capital losses
Decommissioning liabilities
Share issue costs
Unrecognized deferred tax assets

2010
$
56,733
293
2,235
107
1,250
1,560
62,178

The Company has not recognized these deferred tax assets because it is uncertain that future taxable profits will be
available against which the Company can utilize these benefits due to the going concern uncertainty that exists at
December 31, 2011 (note 2).
The following table summarizes the tax pools:
2011
$
14,904
22,077
34
25,201
789
5,167
1,001
22
69,195

Cumulative Canadian Exploration Expense
Cumulative Canadian Development Expense
Cumulative Canadian Oil and Gas Property Expense
Undepreciated Capital Costs
Share issue costs
Non-capital losses
Capital losses
Cumulative eligible capital
Total

2010
$
12,988
21,578
384
24,299
1,560
2,235
107
22
63,173

Non-capital loss carry forwards of $5,167,000 (December 31, 2010 - $2,235,000) expire between 2026 and 2031.
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9.

INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)
(b)

Unrecognized deferred tax assets (continued):
The following table provides a continuity of the unrecognized deferred tax asset:
January 1, 2010
$
Property, plant and equipment
Commodity contracts
Marketable securities
Non-capital losses
Capital losses
Decommissioning liabilities
Share issue costs
Unrecognized deferred tax asset
Deferred tax asset

6,359
(373)
635
26
1,422
623
(8,692)
January 1, 2011
$

Property, plant and equipment
Marketable securities
Non-capital losses
Capital losses
Decommissioning liabilities
Share issue costs
Unrecognized deferred tax asset
Deferred tax asset
10.

14,183
73
559
27
313
390
(15,545)
-

Recognized in
profit or loss
$
7,824
373
73
(76)
1
(1,109)
(233)
(6,853)
-

December 31,
2010
$
14,183
73
559
27
313
390
(15,545)
-

Recognized in
profit or loss
$
770
234
733
223
122
(193)
(1,889)
-

December 31,
2011
$
14,953
307
1,292
250
435
197
(17,434)
-

MARKETABLE SECURITIES
Marketable securities reflect the Company’s investment in 1,574,244 common shares of Terra Energy Corp. (“Terra”)
which had a quoted market value on December 31, 2011 of $850,000 or $0.54 per share. The Terra shares trade on the
Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the symbol “TT”.
During 2011, the Company sold 2,090,200 shares of Terra Energy at an average price of $0.46 per share for proceeds of
$972,000. This resulted in a recognized loss on the sale of $1,787,000. The Company also recorded an unrecognized loss
in 2011 reflecting the decrease in the quoted market value of the remaining shares of $935,000 (2010 - $293,000).
Subsequent to 2011, the Company sold the remaining shares of Terra Energy for $590,000, recognizing an additional loss
of $260,000 in 2012.
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11.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
$
Cost:
At January 1, 2010
Additions
Impairments
Divestitures
Change in decommissioning liabilities
Balance, December 31, 2010
Additions
Impairments
Change in decommissioning liabilities
Balance, December 31, 2011

3,900
62
(2,404)
(583)
25
1,000
64
(74)
10
1,000

Exploration and evaluation (E&E) assets consist of the Company’s exploration projects which are pending the
determination of proven or probable reserves. As at December 31, 2011, an amount of $1,000,000 (December 31, 2010 $1,000,000) remains in exploration and evaluation assets.
The Company evaluated its exploration and evaluation CGU for impairment. As a result, the Company recorded an
impairment loss of $74,000 on its E&E assets for the year ended December 31, 2011 due to declining natural gas prices.
The amount of the impairment loss was determined using the fair value less costs to sell.
The Company recorded impairment losses of $2,404,000 in 2010 on exploration and evaluation assets. The Elmworth
property was sold on August 31, 2010 and the sale price effectively determined the fair value less costs to sell for that
property. The Company also recorded an impairment loss on its remaining exploration and evaluation asset based on its
fair value less costs to sell resulting from declining natural gas prices.
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12.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
$
Cost:
Balance, January 1, 2010
Additions
Divestitures
Change in decommissioning liabilities
Balance, December 31, 2010
Additions
Change in decommissioning liabilities
Balance, December 31, 2011

61,319
1,667
(33,366)
(79)
29,541
500
439
30,480

Accumulated depletion, depreciation and impairment losses:
Balance, January 1, 2010
Depletion, depreciation and amortization expense
Impairment losses
Balance, December 31, 2010
Depletion, depreciation and amortization expense
Impairment losses
Balance, December 31, 2011

(4,309)
(21,814)
(26,123)
(320)
(518)
(26,961)

Carrying amount:
Balance, January 1, 2010
Balance, December 31, 2010
Balance, December 31, 2011

$ 61,319
$ 3,418
$ 3,519

The depletion, depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment, and any eventual reversal thereof, are
recognized in depletion, depreciation and amortization in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss.
The calculation of depletion expense for the year ended December 31, 2011 included estimated future development
costs of $955,000 (December 31, 2010 - $875,000) associated with the development of the Company’s proved plus
probable reserves.
In 2011, the Company did not capitalize any general and administrative expenses or share-based compensation expenses
(December 31, 2010 - $292,000).
In 2010, the Company disposed of its oil and gas assets in the Square Creek and Ladyfern areas for proceeds of
$30,437,000, consisting of cash of $25,600,000 and 3,664,444 shares of Terra Energy Corp. (TSX: “TT”) valued at $1.32 per
share. These assets had a net book value of $33,366,000 and associated decommissioning liabilities of $4,682,000.
At December 31, 2011, due to declining natural gas prices, reserves revisions and adjustments to future costs, the
Company tested its Buick Creek property for impairment. The recoverable amount of the property was estimated as the
fair value less costs to sell based on its net present value of the before tax cash flows from proved plus probable reserves
estimated by the Company’s independent reserves evaluator discounted at 10%. In determining the appropriate
discount rate the Company considered the acquisition metrics of recent transactions completed on similar assets. At
December 31, 2011, the Company determined that the net book value of the Buick Creek CGU exceeded the recoverable
amount and Fortress recognized an impairment charge of $518,000.
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12.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
The following estimates were used in determining whether impairment to the carrying value of the CGU existed at
December 31, 2011:
BC West Coast Station 2
$Cdn/MMBtu
3.10
3.72
4.07
5.47
5.59
5.71
5.83
5.95
6.08
6.21
Escalation rate of 2% per year

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
Thereafter

During 2010, the Company recorded an impairment loss on oil and gas assets of $21,814,000 on certain CGU’s due to
declining natural gas prices and the eventual sale on August 31, 2010 which established the fair value less cost to sell for
these properties.
13.

INDEMNIFICATION OF FLOW-THROUGH SHARE SUBSCRIBERS PAYABLE
(a)

In March 2009, the CRA conducted an audit of the 2004 flow-through expenditures of a company that was acquired
by the Fortress in 2006. As a result of the audit, the Company was reassessed by the CRA for flow-through taxes of
approximately $384,000 on expenditures not qualifying for renunciation under the flow-through share program in
the amount of $1,916,000. The Company filed a Notice of Objection on July 31, 2009 after consultation with its tax
advisors and legal counsel to appeal this reassessment. The Company also indemnified the subscribers from
income taxes related to the offering. The amount of the potential indemnification is approximately $889,000.
As a result of recent discussions with the CRA and additional arguments put forward by the CRA, the Company has
determined that the continued appeal of this reassessment is unlikely to be successful. Accordingly, the Company
has recorded the estimated flow-through taxes and indemnification of flow-through subscribers as liabilities at
December 31, 2011.

(b)

On September 30, 2009 the Company closed a public offering of 6,594,000 flow-through common shares. The
expenditure commitment resulting from the issuance of flow-through common shares was $3,000,270; however,
the Company incurred expenditures of only $104,000 by the December 31, 2010 deadline. Accordingly, the
Company has recorded a liability of $1,314,000 at December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010 - $1,314,000) which
represents the anticipated payments to investors required under indemnification agreements.
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14.

DECOMMISSIONING LIABILITIES
The Company’s decommissioning liabilities result from its ownership interest in oil and natural gas assets including well
sites and gathering systems. The total decommissioning liabilities are estimated based on the Company’s net ownership
interest in all wells and facilities, estimated costs to reclaim and abandon these wells and facilities and the estimated
timing of the cash flows to be incurred in future years. The Company has estimated the net present value of the
decommissioning liabilities to be $1,741,000 as at December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010 - $1,250,000) based on an
undiscounted total future liability of $2,966,000 (December 31, 2010 - $2,966,000). These payments are expected to be
made over the next 25 years. A risk-free rate of 2.49 percent (December 31, 2010: 4.1 %) and an inflation rate of 2.0
percent were used to calculate the net present value of decommissioning liabilities.
Decommissioning liabilities
Balance, January 1, 2010
Adjustments to assumptions
Liabilities incurred and acquired
Accretion expense
Disposition of abandonment liability
Balance, December 31, 2010
Adjustments to assumptions
Accretion expense
Balance, December 31, 2011

15.

$
5,686
51
25
170
(4,682)
1,250
449
42
1,741

SHARE CAPITAL
(a)

Authorized:
Fortress is authorized to issue an unlimited number of voting common shares and an unlimited number of
preferred shares.

(b)

Common shares issued and outstanding:
Number of
Common Shares
55,294,617
55,294,617
55,294,617

Balance, January 1, 2010
Balance, December 31, 2010
Balance, December 31, 2011
(c)

139,447
139,447
139,447

Warrants issued and outstanding:
Number of
warrants
27,295,700
27,295,700
(27,295,700)
-

Balance, January 1, 2010
Balance, December 31, 2010
Expired
Balance, December 31, 2011
(d)

$

$
5,406
5,406
(5,406)
-

Contributed surplus:
$
15,694
559
16,253
5,406
21,659

Balance, January 1, 2010
Share-based compensation expense
Balance, December 31, 2010
Expiry of warrants (note 15 (c))
Balance, December 31, 2011
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15.

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
(e)

Stock option plan:
The Company grants stock options to employees, officers, directors and consultants of the Company pursuant
to an incentive plan. Under this plan, the exercise price of options granted cannot be less than the closing
market price for the Company’s common shares on the date of grant. Options vest over a three-year period
and expire five years from the date of grant.
The following table summarizes stock option transactions:
Number of
options
Balance, January 1, 2010
Cancelled or expired
Balance, December 31, 2010
Expired
Balance, December 31, 2011

(f)

4,774,579
(4,773,779)
800
(800)
-

Weighted average
exercise price
$
0.50
0.50
50.00
50.00
-

Share-based compensation expense:
The following table summarizes the share-based compensation expense recorded for all plans within general
and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss:

Stock options
Restricted stock units
Total share-based compensation expense
(g)

2011
-

2010
496
26
522

2011
$ 7,104
55,294,617
$ 0.13

2010
$ 27,634
55,294,617
$ 0.50

Loss per share:

Loss for the year
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic and diluted
Loss per share – basic and diluted
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16.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
(a)

Letter of guarantee:
The Company has a letter of guarantee of $107,000 outstanding as at December 31, 2011 ($107,000 as at
December 31, 2010) which is secured by a cash deposit. This amount has been included in cash and cash
equivalents in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(b)

Office premises:
The Company is committed to minimum annual lease payments under an operating lease for office premises to
January 2013, as follows:
$
162
14
176

2012
2013

17.

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Changes in non-cash working capital balances are comprised of the following:
2011
$
1,393
54
(845)
931
62
1,595
545
161
889
1,595

Trade and other receivables
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Trade and other payables
Indemnification of flow-through share subscribers payable
Income taxes payable
Attributable to operating activities
Attributable to investing activities
Attributable to financing activities

18.

2010
$
3,826
132
(5,806)
1,656
(192)
(650)
(856)
1,314
(192)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In 2011 the Company was charged $387,000 (2010 - $242,000) by a law firm of which a director of the Company is a
partner. All related party transactions are in the normal course of business and have been measured at the agreed to
exchange amounts, which are the amounts of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties and which
are similar to those negotiated with third parties.
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19.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
(a)

On March 1, 2012, Fortress signed a formal purchase and sale agreement to acquire 100 percent of the shares of
a Brazilian private oil and gas company for an acquisition price of up to US$37,000,000. The oil and gas interests
to be acquired include a 100 percent working interest in 7 exploration blocks located in the Reconcavo Basin,
covering an area of approximately 200 sq km and a 100 percent working interest in three onshore producing oil
fields: Bom Lugar, located in the Reconcavo Basin, Jiribatuba, located in the Camamu Basin and Aracaju, located
in the Sergipe Basin.
Closing of the acquisition is subject to receipt of all necessary regulatory approvals including the approval of ANP
(Agência Nacional do Petróleo, Gás Natural e Biocombustíveis) in Brazil to permit the Brazilian private company
to complete a reorganization prior to the sale of the shares to Fortress, to permit Fortress to purchase and own
the shares and to otherwise consummate the transaction. Closing is also subject to the satisfaction of the other
conditions set out in the purchase and sale agreement.
To finance the acquisition, the Company entered into a letter of intent with a private equity syndicate to raise
$55,000,000 to fund the acquisition price and a portion of the planned capital program. The Company expects to
close this financing in May 2012, the funds of which will be held in trust pending the closing of the acquisition
which is expected in June 2012. The Company had also entered into discussions with various investment banks
to raise an additional $20,000,000 that will be directed to the capital program.

(b)

On February 27, 2012, the Company granted stock options to officers, directors and consultants to the Company
to acquire 5,500,000 common shares of the Company at an exercise price of $0.25 per share, expiring February
27, 2017. The options vest over a three year period on the anniversary dates. Also on February 27, 2012, the
Company granted performance warrants to officers, directors and consultants to the Company to acquire
5,500,000 common shares at an exercise price of $0.25 per share, expiring February 27, 2017.

(c)

On April 9, 2012, the Company closed the first round of a convertible debenture financing for $245,000. The
Company expects to have additional closings in April and May to raise a total of $1,500,000 to provide working
capital to fund the Company’s operations until it can close the acquisition of the Brazilian oil and gas company.
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20.

TRANSITION TO IFRS
The adoption of IFRS requires the application of IFRS 1. IFRS 1 generally requires that an entity retrospectively apply all
IFRS effective at the end of its first IFRS reporting period; however IFRS 1 provides certain mandatory exceptions and
permits limited optional exemptions. Certain IFRS 1 optional exemptions have been applied including:
•

Deemed cost exemption for full cost oil and gas entities whereby exploration and evaluation assets were
classified from the full cost pool to intangible exploration assets at the amount that was recorded under previous
GAAP and the remaining full cost pool was allocated to the development assets and components pro rata using
reserve values.

•

Decommissioning liabilities exemption that allows any changes in decommissioning liabilities on transition to
IFRS to be adjusted through opening accumulated losses.

•

Share-based compensation exemption that allows a company to only have to evaluate share-based
compensation awards that were unvested as of the date of transition and that were issued subsequent to
November 7, 2002.

•

Business combinations exemption that allows a company to not have to restate any business combinations that
occurred prior to the date of transition.

The accounting policies in note 3 have been applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2011 and the comparative information for the year ended December 31, 2010, the financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2010, and the preparation of the opening IFRS statement of financial
position at January 1, 2010, the Company’s date of transition to IFRS.
In preparing its opening IFRS statement of financial position, comparative information for the year ended December 31,
2010, the Company adjusted amounts previously reported in financial statements prepared in accordance with previous
GAAP. An explanation of how the transition from previous GAAP to IFRS has affected the Company’s financial position,
financial performance and cash flows is set out in the following tables and the notes accompanying the tables.
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20.

TRANSITION TO IFRS (CONTINUED)
(a)

Reconciliation of statement of financial position from previous GAAP to IFRS:
At the date of IFRS transition – January 1, 2010:
Note Previous GAAP
20 (d)
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Commodity contracts
Total current assets

$

Non-current assets
Exploration and evaluation assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

(i)
(ii)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Bank loans
Trade and other payables
Flow-through share premium
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Decommissioning liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

(vii)

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital
Warrants
Contributed surplus
Accumulated losses
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Fortress Energy Inc.

90,017
90,017
$ 97,448

$ 23,044
7,884
30,928

$

-

3,900
(28,698)
(24,798)
$ (24,798)

$

IFRS

$

64
5,576
470
1,321
7,431

3,900
61,319
65,219
$ 72,650

462
462

$ 23,044
7,884
462
31,390

(iii)

4,324
4,324
35,252

1,362
1,362
1,824

5,686
5,686
37,076

(viii)

140,094
5,406
15,435
(98,739)
62,196

(647)
259
(26,234)
(26,622)

139,447
5,406
15,694
(124,973)
35,574

(vii)
(vii)
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20.

TRANSITION TO IFRS (CONTINUED)
(b)

Reconciliation of consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss from previous GAAP to IFRS (continued):
For the year ended December 31, 2010:
Note
20 (d)
REVENUE
Natural gas sales
Royalties
Gain on commodity contracts
EXPENSES
Operating
Transportation
Impairment of exploration and evaluation
Depletion, depreciation and amortization
General and administrative
Finance expenses
Loss before income tax
Income tax expense (reduction):
Current
Deferred

$ 11,387
(473)
3,948
14,862

(vii)

5,924
987
54,874
5,095
4,156
71,036
(56,174)

2,404
(28,751)
(245)
(1,592)
(28,184)
28,184

5,924
987
2,404
26,123
4,850
2,564
42,852
(27,990)

106
(26)
80
$ (56,254)

(436)
(436)
$ 28,620

106
(462)
(356)
$ (27,634)

(1.02)
(1.02)

$

$
$

-

IFRS

-

$
$
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$ 11,387
(473)
3,948
14,862

(i)
(iv)
(v)
(iii), (vi)

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period
Net loss per share
Basic
Diluted
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20.

TRANSITION TO IFRS (CONTINUED)
(c)

Reconciliation of consolidated cash flow statement from previous GAAP to IFRS (continued):
For the year ended December 31, 2010:
Note Previous GAAP
Effect of
20 (d)
transition to
IFRS
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Adjustments for:
Unrealized gain on commodity contracts
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
Depletion, depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation
Finance expenses
Deferred income tax
Interest paid
Change in non-cash working capital
Net cash from operating activities

IFRS

$(56,254)

$28,620

$(27,634)

1,321
54,874
767
2,842
(26)
(1,318)
(650)
1,556

2,404
(28,751)
(245)
(1,592)
(436)
-

1,321
2,404
26,123
522
1,250
(462)
(1,318)
(650)
1,556

(1,747)
25,146
(856)
22,543

(63)
63
-

(63)
(1,684)
25,146
(856)
22,543

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of bank loans
Indemnification of flow-through share subscribers
Net cash used in financing activities

(23,044)
1,314
(21,730)

-

(23,044)
1,314
(21,730)

Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

2,369
64
$ 2,433

-

2,369
64
$ 2,433

(i)
(iv)
(v)
(iii)
(vii)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Exploration and evaluation expenditures
Property, plant and equipment expenditures
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Change in non-cash working capital
Net cash from investing activities
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20.

TRANSITION TO IFRS (CONTINUED)
(d)

Impact of transition to IFRS on 2010 results:
(i)

Exploration and Evaluation assets (“E&E”) – As required under IFRS 6, upon transition to IFRS, Fortress
reclassified $4,491,000 from Property, Plant and Equipment (“PP&E”) to E&E, which primarily consisted of
undeveloped exploration lands. The Company reclassified $4,578,000 at December 31, 2010.
On transition to IFRS, the Company recorded an impairment loss on E&E assets of $591,000 which resulted
in a reduction in E&E assets with the offset to accumulated losses. For the year ended December 31, 2010,
the Company recorded additional impairment losses on E&E assets of $2,404,000. The Elmworth property
was sold on August 31, 2010 and the sale price effectively determined the fair value less costs to sell for
that property. The Company recorded an impairment loss on its remaining exploration and evaluation
asset based on its fair value less costs to sell resulting from declining natural gas prices.
The following table summarizes the changes to E&E assets resulting from the transition to IFRS:
E&E assets

January 1,
2010
$
4,491
(591)
3,900

Transferred from PP&E assets
Impairment losses
Change in allocation of sales proceeds
E&E assets as reported under IFRS
(ii)

December
31, 2010
$
4,578
(2,995)
(583)
1,000

Property, Plant and Equipment (“PP&E”) – The Company’s PP&E assets were allocated to CGU’s unlike
under previous GAAP where all oil and natural gas assets are accumulated into one cost centre. Under
IFRS 1, the deemed cost of the Company’s oil and natural gas assets were allocated to CGU’s based on
total proved plus probable reserve values as at January 1, 2010.
Under IFRS, impairment tests for PP&E are performed at a CGU level as opposed to the entire Company’s
PP&E balance being subjected to a full cost ceiling test under previous GAAP. Impairment is recognized if
the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount for a CGU. The recoverable amount is determined
using the greater of the fair value less costs to sell based on discounted future cash flows of proved plus
probable reserves using forecast prices and costs, and the value in use. As a result of decreased natural
gas prices and the sale of oil and gas assets on August 31, 2010 which impacted the fair value less costs to
sell, the Company recognized impairment losses for the year ended December 31, 2010 of $21,814,000.
This resulted in a reduction of PP&E with the offset charged to depletion, depreciation and amortization
expense. The Company also recorded an impairment loss of $24,207,000 on January 1, 2010, on transition
to IFRS due to declining natural gas prices.
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20.

TRANSITION TO IFRS (CONTINUED)
(d)

Impact of transition to IFRS on 2010 results (continued):
(ii)

Property, Plant and Equipment (“PP&E”) (continued):
The following table summarizes the changes to PP&E assets resulting from the transition to IFRS:
PP&E assets

PP&E assets as reported under previous GAAP
Transferred to E&E assets
Change in depletion, depreciation and amortization
Change in impairment losses
Change in decommissioning liabilities
Change in loss on sale of oil and gas properties
PP&E assets as reported under IFRS
(iii)

January 1,
2010
$
90,017
(4,491)
(24,207)
61,319

December
31, 2010
$
2,178
(4,578)
3,089
1,455
(256)
1,530
3,418

Decommissioning liabilities – Under previous GAAP, Fortress’s decommissioning liabilities were discounted
based on a credit adjusted risk-free rate which was 9 percent at December 31, 2009. Under IFRS, the
Company is required to revalue its obligation at each balance sheet date using a current liability-specific
discount rate. At transition, Fortress revalued the obligation based on a risk-free rate of 4.1% resulting in a
$1,362,000 increase to the liability with the offset charged to accumulated losses. As a result of the
change in the discount rate applied, accretion of decommissioning liabilities expense decreased by
$62,000 for the year ended December 31, 2010. The accretion of decommissioning liabilities expense has
been included in finance expenses.
The following table summarizes the changes to decommissioning liabilities resulting from the transition to
IFRS:
Decommissioning liabilities

January 1, 2010
$

Decommissioning liabilities as reported under previous GAAP
Increase resulting from change in discount rate
Change in accretion expense
Change in net additions/(disposals)
Decommissioning liabilities as reported under IFRS
(iv)

4,324
1,362
5,686

December
31, 2010
$
789
1,362
(62)
(839)
1,250

Depletion, depreciation and amortization expense – Under IFRS, Fortress has chosen to calculate depletion
expense based on proved plus probable reserves as opposed to proved reserves under previous GAAP.
This has resulted in a reduction of depletion, depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended
December 31, 2010 of $3,089,000.
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20.

TRANSITION TO IFRS (CONTINUED)
(d)

Impact of transition to IFRS on 2010 results (continued):
The following table summarizes the changes to depletion, depreciation and amortization expense resulting
from the transition to IFRS:

Depletion, depreciation and amortization expense as reported under previous GAAP
Decrease in depletion, depreciation and amortization expense
Decrease in impairment losses on PP&E
Depletion, depreciation and amortization expense as reported under IFRS

Year
ended
December
31, 2010
$
54,874
(3,089)
(25,662)
26,123

(v)

Under previous GAAP, Fortress expensed share-based compensation on a straight-line basis. Under IFRS,
share-based payments are expensed based on a graded vesting schedule. Fortress also incorporated a
forfeiture multiplier rather than accounting for forfeitures as they occur as currently practiced under
previous GAAP. This resulted in an increase to contributed surplus and accumulated losses of $259,000 on
transition to IFRS. Share-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2010 decreased
by $245,000. This decrease in share-based compensation expense resulted in no change in amounts
previously capitalized to PP&E for the year ended December 31, 2010. Share-based compensation
expense has been included in general and administrative expenses on the statement of loss and
comprehensive loss.

(vi)

Divestitures – Under previous GAAP, proceeds from divestitures were deducted from the full cost pool
without recognition of a gain or loss unless the divestiture resulted in a change in the depletion rate of
20% or greater in which case, a gain or loss was recorded. Under IFRS, gains and losses are recorded on
divestitures and are calculated as the difference between the proceeds and the net book value of the asset
disposed of.
The Company sold substantially all of its oil and gas properties on August 31, 2010. Under previous GAAP
the Company recorded a loss on sale of oil and gas assets of $1,000,000 for the year ended December 31,
2010. Under IFRS, the Company has recorded a gain on the sale of oil and gas assets of $530,000 as a
result of an increase in decommissioning liabilities and a change in the allocation of the sale proceeds to
specific CGU’s.

(vii)

Flow-through shares are a Canadian income tax incentive which is the subject of specific guidance under
previous GAAP, however there is no specific guidance under IFRS. Under previous GAAP, when flowthrough shares were issued they were recorded at face value. The related deferred income tax liability was
established for the tax effect of the difference between the tax basis and the book basis of the assets
when renounced and was recorded as a reduction of share capital. The reduction to share capital under
previous GAAP was based on the corporate tax rates in effect at that time. There was no income
statement effect associated with the issuance of these shares, however upon renunciation to the flowthrough subscriber, a deferred tax liability was recorded. In the Company’s case, since its tax basis was
larger than its book basis, a deferred tax liability was reversed and taken into income as a deferred income
tax reduction.

Fortress Energy Inc.

41

For the year ended December 31, 2011

FORTRESS ENERGY INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2011, with comparative figures for 2010
(tabular amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars except share and per share information)
20.

TRANSITION TO IFRS (CONTINUED)
(d)

Impact of transition to IFRS on 2010 results (continued):
Under IFRS the proceeds from the offering are to be allocated between the sale of the shares and the sale
of the income tax benefit. The allocation is made based on the difference between the quoted market
price of the existing shares and the amount an investor pays for the flow-through shares. This flowthrough premium is recorded as a liability that is reduced when qualifying flow-through expenditures are
incurred. The reduction of the flow-through liability is offset by an increase in the deferred tax liability and
due to the valuation allowance recognized in the Company’s case it is treated as a deferred income tax
reduction. On transition to IFRS on January 1, 2010, the Company recorded a flow-through share liability
of $462,000 which has been included with trade and other payables, a decrease in share capital of
$647,000 and a decrease in accumulated losses of $185,000.
For the year ended December 31, 2010, the effects of these changes resulted in a decrease in share capital
of $621,000 and an offsetting increase in accumulated losses.
(viii)

The following table summarizes the changes to share capital resulting from the transition to IFRS:
January 1,
2010
$
140,094
(647)
139,447

Share capital as reported under previous GAAP
Flow-through shares
Share capital as reported under IFRS

(ix)

The following table summarizes the changes to contributed surplus resulting from the transition to IFRS:

Contributed surplus as reported under previous GAAP
Change in share-based compensation
Contributed surplus as reported under IFRS

(x)

December
31, 2010
$
140,068
(621)
139,447

January 1,
2010
$
15,435
259
15,694

December
31, 2010
$
16,239
14
16,253

The following table summarizes the changes to accumulated losses resulting from the transition to IFRS:

Accumulated losses as reported under previous GAAP
Change in decommissioning liabilities
Change in depletion, depreciation and amortization
Change in loss on sale of oil and gas properties
Change in impairment of E&E assets
Change in share-based compensation
Flow-through shares
Accumulated losses as reported under IFRS
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January 1,
2010
$
(98,739)
(1,362)
(24,207)
(591)
(259)
185
(124,973)

December
31, 2010
$
(154,993)
(1,300)
4,544
1,530
(2,995)
(14)
621
(152,607)
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20.

TRANSITION TO IFRS (CONTINUED)
(d)

Impact of transition to IFRS on 2010 results (continued):
(xi)

The following table summarizes the changes to net loss and comprehensive loss resulting from the
transition to IFRS:

A

Net loss and comprehensive loss as reported under previous GAAP
Change in exploration and evaluation expenses
Change in depletion, depreciation and amortization expense
Change in impairment losses included in depletion, depreciation
and amortization expense
Change in share-based compensation
Change in accretion expense included in finance expenses
Change in loss on sale of oil and gas properties
Change in deferred income tax expense
Net loss and comprehensive loss as reported under IFRS
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Year
ended
December
31, 2010
$
(56,254)
(2,404)
3,089
25,662
245
62
1,530
436
(27,634)

For the year ended December 31, 2011

